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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  This hearing

          3  of the General Welfare Committee is now called to

          4  order.  At the outset, I'd like to just thank all

          5  the staff who participated in preparing this

          6  hearing, including our Counsel, Molly Murphy, our

          7  Policy Analyst, Freya Riel and Aaron Feinstein of

          8  the Finance Division, and all other staff who

          9  helped.

         10                 This hearing was called on unusually

         11  short notice. It was called because of profound

         12  concern amongst Council Members, but also amongst

         13  all people who care deeply about protecting our

         14  children and helping our children, that a major

         15  reorganization of the Administration for Children's

         16  Services had been proposed, and that that proposal

         17  caught many of us off guard, without a sense of

         18  there having been a process of real dialogue and

         19  consultation.

         20                      Let me say at the outset that

         21  this Council and the General Welfare Committee, in

         22  particular, have focused an immense amount of time

         23  in the last year and a half on the issue of how can

         24  we better protect our children, and how can we

         25  better serve our children who have had profound
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          2  disruptions in their lives.

          3                 I think it's fair to say that very

          4  few issues, especially since the very tragic death

          5  of Nixzmary Brown, have focused the attention of

          6  this Council more than the issue of protecting

          7  children and serving children.  Throughout that

          8  process I think we have worked in a spirit of

          9  partnership with the Administration for Children's

         10  Services and with the Mayor's office. We have

         11  sometimes agreed fully, we have sometimes had mixed

         12  feelings about some of the proposals, and sometimes

         13  we've disagreed, but there has always been a spirit

         14  of partnership.

         15                 In fact, I would say on many levels

         16  the numerous reforms in the organization and

         17  approach of ACS and in the budget of ACS, in the

         18  immediate aftermath of the Nixzmary Brown tragedy

         19  were entirely embraced by this Council.  Although

         20  from time to time I have had differences with

         21  Commissioner Mattingly, I've also been one of the

         22  people who has often expressed profound gratitude

         23  for what he has achieved, and for his willingness to

         24  take responsibility when things work and when they

         25  don't work.
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          2                 To put things in perspective, the

          3  Council has worked in an atmosphere of partnership

          4  because the real goal here is to serve our children.

          5  I've always said that the people who work for ACS,

          6  from the top administration right down to case

          7  worker at the front line, I've never doubted any of

          8  their desire to protect children and their

          9  earnestness about that.  I have never for a moment

         10  wondered whether people weren't trying to do the

         11  right thing.

         12                 The debate has always been about how

         13  to do it best, how to support it best, how to make

         14  sense of a bureaucracy that hasn't always worked,

         15  how to really support the people doing that

         16  front-line work, how to look at the fact that it's

         17  very difficult work with lots of turnover for a very

         18  good reason - low-paid folks doing difficult,

         19  sometimes dangerous work, and doing the work which

         20  we say in our society should be the most important,

         21  the protection and nurturing of our children.

         22                 Now, by the way, I say the same thing

         23  about our childcare workers.  I say the same thing

         24  about our teachers.  I hope in recent years we in

         25  the Council have contributed to a positive
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          2  environment which the work of protecting and

          3  nurturing our children really is front and center

          4  for this City, that we're putting our money where

          5  our mouth is, our energy fully and totally into that

          6  task.

          7                 Since the death of Nixzmary Brown, it

          8  has also been our job to ask a number of tough

          9  questions.  I do give the Commissioner credit, in

         10  that questioning process that's gone on through a

         11  series of hearings, I've never felt that he shied

         12  away from the point that there clearly was a lack of

         13  coordination between various agencies at one point.

         14  There clearly were more resources needed.  There

         15  were different approaches needed, and I think a lot

         16  of progress has been made. But that's why I am all

         17  the more perplexed at this moment, why such an

         18  important proposal came forward without the kind of

         19  dialogue and partnership that I thought had become

         20  the norm.

         21                 (Applause.)

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me just

         23  pause to say there is no one in public life that

         24  doesn't like applause, but I'm going to ask you to

         25  hold it back here because we've got a lot of
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          2  business to do.  But thank you.

          3                 To me, I believe whether you're John

          4  Mattingly, or the Administration of ACS, or whether

          5  your Charles Ensley and the folks who represent the

          6  workers, whether you're the actual workers

          7  themselves, whether you're the agencies that provide

          8  the foster care service, the preventative service

          9  agencies, I believe every player, every piece of

         10  this equation has a common goal.

         11                 We want to protect kids.  We don't

         12  want kids one more day in foster care than they have

         13  to be.  We do want a streamlined process.  We do

         14  want more accountability.  There's no two ways about

         15  it.  I don't hear anyone, I don't care if it's

         16  worker or management saying, gee, we'd like less

         17  accountability. I think everyone is committed to

         18  accountability because the stakes are so high.

         19                 There is a lot of important agencies

         20  in this City. No disrespect to the Parks Department,

         21  but sometimes when the Parks Department makes a

         22  mistake, it may not be a life and death matter. With

         23  ACS, every decision matters, so we want

         24  accountability.  That is in the public's interest.

         25  We want to put the children first.
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          2                 In fact, my concern today is, to put

          3  the children first, we need a team effort.  We need

          4  everyone in this system bought in and believing in

          5  the direction we're going in.  The captain of the

          6  team is John Mattingly.  You can agree with him or

          7  disagree with him, but he is the captain of this

          8  team.  But he also has an obligation like any

          9  captain of any team, to get everyone on the same

         10  page, to listen, to work together, to get by and

         11  across the board.

         12                 Now, we have to strike that balance,

         13  and that's what today's hearing is all about.

         14  Although, I think a number of us are frustrated that

         15  we found out about this proposal at the last minute,

         16  some people found out through the media.  The real

         17  issue is not how we found out. The real issue is

         18  what's the substance of the proposal, and where are

         19  we going from here?  How are we going to create that

         20  buy-in going forward?  How are we going to work in

         21  partnership going forward?

         22                 So the number one mission today, in

         23  my opinion, is to really understand what is, in my

         24  view, not an obvious and simple proposal, one that

         25  has some complexities and some nuances, and to hear
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          2  directly from John Mattingly what it is and what it

          3  isn't.

          4                 We want to hear directly from some of

          5  the workers affected what they feel about it.  We

          6  want to have an open dialogue, in effect, our own

          7  public version of consultation, to see where this

          8  leads us.

          9                 I do believe going forward, I hope

         10  we've all learned a lesson here about going the

         11  extra mile to consult with each other, because that

         12  buy-in is crucial.  If there hadn't been a spirit of

         13  partnership for this last year and a half, one could

         14  say, well, why should we try?  But there has been

         15  that spirit, and I think all players have to live up

         16  to that spirit of partnership.

         17                 The last thing I want to say is the

         18  question of the folks who do the work in this agency

         19  and the morale we need to make this agency, with its

         20  incredibly difficult mission, work.  I know how hard

         21  John Mattingly works and his management team works,

         22  and I know how this is their first thought in the

         23  morning and the last thought at night, but I also

         24  know that's true of the workers who serve at the

         25  frontline.  We need a deep sense of commitment of
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          2  strong morale, of common buy-in, of common belief

          3  running through every element of ACS.

          4                 I believe a lot has been done to do

          5  that.  I think a lot of the changes made over the

          6  last year certainly encourage common strength,

          7  common belief, and the investments that have been

          8  made are a tremendous statement about what's working

          9  right in ACS. Well, we don't want this new proposal

         10  in any way to diminish the positive momentum, the

         11  improvement in morale, the improvement in shared

         12  goals that's occurred.

         13                 That's why I think we need to use

         14  this occasion to talk about how to restart this

         15  process productively, have some of the conversations

         16  now that maybe should have happened before, and get

         17  this back on track.

         18                 Again, I'll close by saying the goals

         19  are extremely common about protecting children,

         20  improving the process, reforming the process, more

         21  accountability, less time in foster care.  We all

         22  share those goals profoundly.  Today we want to

         23  understand what is the proposal?  How does it work?

         24  What accountability mechanisms exist?  How will

         25  private non-profit organizations be a part of that
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          2  accountability system?  What are their

          3  responsibilities, and what's the government's

          4  responsibility?  How does this affect the financing

          5  of those organizations?  Does it make them more

          6  stable, less stable?  And what, of course, will be

          7  the effect on the current ACS staff and the future

          8  of ACS and its staff?  Those are the questions we

          9  want to get to today.

         10                 We have been joined by a number of

         11  members of the Council, including Members of the

         12  General Welfare Committee, Annabel Palma, and Gale

         13  Brewer, and Members who are not on the General

         14  Welfare Committee, but who are profoundly concerned

         15  about the work of ACS, Tish James and Charles

         16  Barron.  I understand that Council Member Barron has

         17  gotten over his shyness problem.  He sought

         18  professional treatment, and he's ready to come out

         19  of his shell.  This is a really important moment.

         20  He talks very softly, so everyone's going to have to

         21  be quiet.  He is only here for a few more minutes,

         22  so he just wants to make a quick statement at the

         23  outset.  Council Member Barron.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you so

         25  much, Bill.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Charles, we

          3  support you. It's okay.  We support you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Bill, I thank

          5  you for having this hearing, and I do have a lot of

          6  things on my schedule.  I just wanted to make sure I

          7  came by to let you know I was very supportive and to

          8  say to the Commissioner, this is racist.  In my

          9  opinion.  In my opinion. I think --

         10                 (Applause.)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right now,

         12  I'm sorry. Council Member, I'll comment on your

         13  assertion in a moment, but the point here is, we're

         14  going to let you have the time you need.  But,

         15  again, I really want to beg of the people, I

         16  appreciate this is a democracy, but we really have

         17  to move these proceedings along, so please let's

         18  hold back the shows of feeling and let the Council

         19  Member speak.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I think it's

         21  racist.  I think it's a removal.  It's a form of

         22  ethnic cleansing of the Department, and I think when

         23  you're talking about moving 650 workers out of 1,400

         24  and say, we'll place them somewhere, it's not clear

         25  where, and then you are talking about bachelor's
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          2  degrees, this is not a structural change, this is a

          3  personnel change.  I think it's more compliant to

          4  predominantly white agencies than it is to black

          5  workers who did the heart and soul, blood, sweat and

          6  tears of this agency, and I think to do this, and we

          7  have to read this in the newspaper, and the only

          8  reason why I'm coming out like that, and I'm sure

          9  you'll have some comeback for it, but I hope you can

         10  work something out where this doesn't happen.

         11  Because it's about giving quality work.

         12                 If it's really about the children, we

         13  don't have to do this because a bachelor's degree

         14  doesn't mean that you're going to do a great job

         15  because you have a bachelor's degree.  I know some

         16  people who are Ph.D. fools, so a bachelor's degree

         17  doesn't assure anything, but it's the quality of

         18  work that people have given.

         19                 So I just wanted to, on the outset,

         20  and I'm going to be working with the workers, and

         21  I'm telling you now, if this goes, and we're

         22  ignored, and it just goes straight ahead, we just

         23  need to bring the heat to say that we definitely

         24  have to make sure that we are protected and not

         25  disrespected.
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          2                 So I just wanted to say that at the

          3  top of the line, and thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

          5  We're joined by Council Member Tom White of Queens,

          6  who also is a Member of the General Welfare

          7  Committee.  Welcome, all my colleagues.  I have to

          8  say at the outset, and I wouldn't be an honest human

          9  being if I didn't say it while Council Member Barron

         10  was still here, I think there's a lot of issues with

         11  this plan and a lot of insensitivities in the

         12  approach taken.  I have not walked a mile in the

         13  shoes of the case workers or your shoes.  I don't

         14  personally believe it is racist because I don't

         15  believe the authors of it are racist.  I do believe

         16  there are tremendous issues, and challenges and

         17  problems that we all have with this plan, and that's

         18  why we're having this hearing here today.  But I

         19  wanted to be honest with you about that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Let's be

         21  honest right back. There is no way that you can

         22  impact mostly black people and say race is not a

         23  factor.  We don't get rid of racism being in denial.

         24  We get rid of racism by confronting it, and this is

         25  racist.  To be honest with you and respectful, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I respect you

          4  greatly.  I'm glad we had this dialogue, and now we

          5  will go on.  We will go on to an opportunity.  I

          6  appreciate that the Commissioner has listened

          7  patiently to some of our views.  You're going to

          8  hear a lot of questions after your testimony, and

          9  Commissioner, we welcome your testimony.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Thank you.

         11  Good afternoon, Chair DeBlasio, Members of the

         12  General Welfare Committee and Members of the

         13  Council.  I appreciate, Chair DeBlasio, your opening

         14  comments.  I share every one of the goals that you

         15  listed for this discussion and future discussions.

         16                 I would like to take this opportunity

         17  to lay out for Members of the Council our plan to

         18  strengthen our oversight of the private agencies who

         19  serve our City's abused and neglected children and

         20  their families.  I apologize.  I still have a pretty

         21  bad cold, and I may stumble a bit, but I'll get

         22  there eventually.

         23                 Let me just say at the outset where

         24  improved outcomes for children fits in what we have

         25  all together been working on, as the Chair
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          2  mentioned.

          3                 As you all will recall, last March

          4  about this time we announced the Child Safety Plan.

          5  Since that time, we have been devoting much of our

          6  efforts toward improving the way in which we

          7  investigate allegations of abuse or neglect.  We

          8  assess families' needs.  We help them through

          9  preventive services.  We take children's cases to

         10  court and ask for supervision of the court over the

         11  family, and at times we ask for removal of the

         12  children for their own safety.

         13                 In the plan, which you can refer to

         14  as you wish, you will see two other pieces of the

         15  plan which we have now begun to implement.

         16                 The first is the Community

         17  Partnership Initiative, which is now underway in

         18  seven communities here in the City in which we

         19  propose to make some resources available to ask

         20  neighborhoods and communities that are heavily

         21  affected by child welfare to be our eyes and ears,

         22  and also to be the eyes and the ears of the

         23  community about how we are doing our work.

         24                 This Improved Outcome for Children is

         25  the third aspect of the Child Safety Plan, and it
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          2  focuses on those children who have had to be removed

          3  from their families for their own safety and what

          4  happens to them after they come into care.  It also

          5  focuses heavily on those families who are referred

          6  for preventive services to make sure the children

          7  don't get hurt again and how well that service gets

          8  provided.  So that's how Improved Outcomes for

          9  Children really fits into the three pieces of what

         10  the Child Safety Plan was about.

         11                 We believe that the implementation of

         12  this plan will improve the results achieved by New

         13  York City, us, for the 17,000 children in foster

         14  care and the 27,000 children receiving preventive

         15  services.

         16                 Specifically, this plan will reduce

         17  moves for foster children in care, find permanent,

         18  safe families for children in an expedited manner to

         19  either return home sooner safely, or through

         20  adoption, reduce the frequency of children being

         21  placed in group care, rather than in family foster

         22  care, and, finally, strengthen the preventive

         23  agencies' work to help children stay safe in their

         24  own families.

         25                 So with those goals in mind, and
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          2  those targets that we seek to achieve, there are

          3  three components to these changes: First, a new

          4  practice model; a new accountability system,

          5  secondly; and a new finance structure, thirdly.

          6                 Each component of this plan is

          7  essential and together they add up, we believe, to a

          8  comprehensive reform of the foster care and

          9  preventive services system.

         10                 We believe that ACS must act now,

         11  because after a decade of foster care and preventive

         12  services reform, a decade, we have come as far as we

         13  can without addressing the fundamental structural

         14  issues, that is how we structure the help that we

         15  provide to children and families.  Improved Outcomes

         16  for Children will also involve a major investment by

         17  Children's Services in upgrading the quality and the

         18  intensity of our oversight of the provider agencies.

         19                 Teams of performance monitors will be

         20  assigned to each provider agency to ensure that

         21  children and families receive high-quality services.

         22  These teams will set expectations for improvement

         23  for each agency based on accurate, relevant and

         24  up-to-date data.  They will help agencies access

         25  needed support, and they will hold agencies
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          2  accountable for improving the outcomes they are

          3  achieving.

          4                 To do this, Children's Services will

          5  move from measuring agency performance on an annual

          6  basis to an ongoing monitoring of agencies using the

          7  following types of information: Quantifiable

          8  performance data; case record reviews; site

          9  assessments; interviews with parents, foster

         10  parents, children and youth; and feedback from other

         11  stakeholders, including other ACS offices, the

         12  Family Court and other key system participants.

         13                 We will compile regularly performance

         14  data and analyze it to address both provider agency

         15  and system-wide performance issues.

         16                 Using this information, Children's

         17  Services will hold regular performance meetings with

         18  each agency, much like Child Stat has done with

         19  child protective work.  The purpose of the meeting

         20  will be to set clear expectations to identify

         21  barriers to improvement and to collectively develop

         22  strategies to strengthen the agency's work and

         23  effectiveness.

         24                 My sense of urgency in this is driven

         25  by a core set of facts that are unacceptable to you,
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          2  I know, and to me, because you've raised it to me

          3  over the years.  These outcomes, these facts have to

          4  change. Let me will briefly outline and highlight

          5  them for you.

          6                 Last year in New York City nearly one

          7  in three children who spent time in foster care was

          8  moved at least once, leaving one foster care setting

          9  for another, a harmful practice for healthy child

         10  development.  We all know that moves hurt children,

         11  and New York City's child welfare system, as a

         12  whole, moves children in foster care far too often.

         13                 State-wide, only five percent of our

         14  adoptions are completed within 24 months of a

         15  child's entry into foster care. This is the lowest

         16  ranking for any state in the nation with a median

         17  length of stay for a New York City child to adoption

         18  measuring at 58 months, or nearly five years.  If

         19  you think about it differently, those five years are

         20  half the lifetime of a 10-year-old boy.

         21                 The numbers on reunifications that

         22  occur within 12 months of entry into foster care are

         23  only marginally better.  Here again, New York State

         24  ranks 46th out of all the states.

         25                 Finally, 30 percent more youth in the
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          2  New York City foster care system are placed in

          3  non-family settings, 30 percent more than in

          4  Chicago, for example.  LA has six percent of its

          5  children on any given day who are in foster care, in

          6  group settings. Chicago has 12.  We have 16.

          7                 No matter how much we have

          8  accomplished over the past decade, and I think New

          9  York City is justly proud that we have accomplished

         10  a lot, including in the last 12 months, it's clear

         11  from this data, each of which represents a child and

         12  a family, that we have not gone far enough.

         13  Decisive action is necessary. In my view, the path

         14  forward requires us to do three things:

         15                 First of all, Children's Services

         16  staff must work directly in contact with children

         17  and families and actively drive the critical

         18  decisions that need to be made about a child's

         19  future and well being.

         20                 Secondly, Children's Services must

         21  monitor provider agency performance aggressively and

         22  consistently and hold them accountable for results.

         23                 Thirdly, ACS must provide our

         24  agencies with the resources and the flexibility they

         25  need to produce results.
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          2                 Let me discuss each of these pieces

          3  of the plan in depth. First, under Improved Outcomes

          4  for Children, teams of family conferencing senior

          5  social workers from Children's Services will

          6  participate in key safety decision-making meetings

          7  at provider agencies.  These staff will interact

          8  directly with children and families and will work in

          9  partnership with the provider agency staff.  This

         10  will save time and reduce duplication that occurs

         11  under the current system moving children to

         12  permanency faster.

         13                 As it works now, the provider agency

         14  makes decisions regarding a child and family.  ACS

         15  either approves or disapproves these decisions in a

         16  record review and then help is provided.  The

         17  redundancy in this process often slows down progress

         18  for the family and creates confusion in the Family

         19  Court about who is responsible for carrying out the

         20  Court's orders.

         21                 These new family conferencing social

         22  workers will have specialized skills in facilitating

         23  family team conferences in order to bring families

         24  and service providers through a consensus building

         25  process leading to sound decisions for children that
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          2  are shared.  We have made a considered decision that

          3  these positions must be filled by Master's of Social

          4  Work staff because of the high level of skill

          5  required to interact effectively with families and

          6  children in this moment of stress and crisis.

          7                 At the same time, we will be setting

          8  clear expectations for the provider agencies and

          9  allowing the flexibility needed to make ongoing

         10  decisions in that case.  This will help us create a

         11  system where those who are closest to the family

         12  will have more responsibility, while ACS staff will

         13  be used more strategically and push the

         14  decision-making process at critical moments.

         15                 Regarding the accountability system,

         16  Improved Outcomes for Children involve a major

         17  investment by ACS in upgrading the quality and

         18  intensity of our oversight.

         19                 Teams of performance monitors will be

         20  assigned to each provider agency to ensure that

         21  children and families receive high-quality services.

         22  These teams exist now, but have far fewer people in

         23  them than we need.  These teams will set clear

         24  expectations for improvement for each agency based

         25  on accurate and relevant data, will help agencies
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          2  access needed support and hold agencies accountable

          3  for improving outcomes achieved for children.

          4                 To do this, ACS will move from

          5  measuring agency performance on an annual basis

          6  through Equip to an ongoing monitoring of agencies

          7  using the following types of information:

          8  Quantifiable performance data, case record reviews,

          9  site assessments, interviews with parents, foster

         10  parents, children and youth and feedback from other

         11  stakeholders.

         12                 We will compile this data and analyze

         13  it to address both provider agency and system-wide

         14  performance, and we will meet with the agencies to

         15  monitor performance, set clear expectation, identify

         16  barriers and collectively work with them to help

         17  them improve their performance.

         18                 In these performance meetings and

         19  elsewhere, the achievement of agency-specific

         20  outcome expectations will be monitored closely by

         21  ACS on an ongoing basis, and a range of

         22  accountability tools will be utilized to promote

         23  change whenever necessary.

         24                 Children's Services will be

         25  increasing its capacity to monitor performance by
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          2  expanding our agency program assistance unit.

          3                 Improved Outcomes for Children on the

          4  financing side, provider agencies will have more

          5  dependable and flexible financial resources to

          6  address the individual needs of each child, while

          7  emphasizing the quality of care provided to the

          8  children in foster care.

          9                 Under the structure approved by the

         10  State Office of Children and Family Services,

         11  agencies will be given the flexibility to make

         12  strategic upfront program investments to improve the

         13  stability of children's placements and expedite

         14  return home or adoption.  To do this, Children's

         15  Services will:

         16                 - structure a finance model that will

         17  allow provider agencies to make targeted investments

         18  in a flexible array of services that will directly

         19  improve permanency and stability for foster

         20  children.

         21                 - we will integrate all performance

         22  financing initiatives, reinvestment, foster parents

         23  support, preparing youth for adulthood,

         24  performance-based rates, all of which we have

         25  implemented in the past few years, to allow agencies
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          2  to manage performance and resources in an integrated

          3  and coordinated way.

          4                 - we will give agencies

          5  predictability of funding over a two-year period.

          6                 - we will support agencies in

          7  developing and managing performance and improvement

          8  targets and investment plans specific to their

          9  population.

         10                 - we will align programmatic outcomes

         11  with fiscal incentives by eliminating the penalty

         12  for expediting permanency and creating an incentive

         13  for foster care agencies to provide needed supports.

         14                 For years, we have all struggled with

         15  the linkage between a payment to an agency and the

         16  night a child has to spend in a foster care bed.

         17  This financing structure will remove that

         18  relationship.  It will allow the agency to continue

         19  its services to a family after reunification.

         20                 We will also allow more for per child

         21  day spending on maximum State aid rate costs by

         22  allowing reinvested funds to increase the maximum

         23  allowable daily rate for regular foster care,

         24  thereby allowing investments to enrich family foster

         25  care programming, including the lowering of
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          2  caseloads.

          3                 Implementation.  The first phase of

          4  Improved Outcomes for Children will involve provider

          5  agencies serving approximately 25 percent of the

          6  foster care and 10 percent of the preventive

          7  population and will begin in July of 2007.

          8                 Foster care and preventive service

          9  providers will have the opportunity to voluntarily

         10  apply to become part of the initial roll out of

         11  improved outcomes in July.

         12                 The rest of the system will continue

         13  to be overseen in the current manner until the

         14  entire system is converted to IOC by July, 2008.

         15                 Our plan will indeed have

         16  implications for staffing, and we are still in

         17  discussions with Local 371 to determine many of the

         18  specifics.

         19                 (Audience outburst.)

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Mr. President,

         21  I have tremendous respect for you, and you will have

         22  a forum.  And I'd like to ask everyone once again, I

         23  understand this is extremely personal and emotional,

         24  but we only have until 4:00 o'clock in this room. We

         25  have a lot to cover.  We have a lot of questions for
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          2  the Commissioner.  We want to hear from President

          3  Ensley and others, so please bear with us.

          4                 Continue, Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  What we do

          6  know now is that we presently have 1,450 child

          7  welfare specialist positions, including supervisors.

          8  By July, 2008 we anticipate no longer staffing

          9  approximately 650 child welfare specialist positions

         10  associated with various case management functions.

         11  Therefore, we have, in our view, 15 months to

         12  identify alternative positions for those affected

         13  staff alongside Local 371.

         14                 Children's Services has provided

         15  Local 371 with a list of the positions that will no

         16  longer be staffed 15 months from now, and we will be

         17  working with them to try to identify compatible

         18  positions, elsewhere in the agency primarily, that

         19  may be available for employees affected by this

         20  plan.  Some of the options will include, between now

         21  and July 1, 2007, Children's Services will be

         22  posting for approximately 270 new positions to staff

         23  the new oversight effort.  These positions are going

         24  to be available to internal staff who apply for

         25  them, as well as to others.  They do not at all
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          2  require a Master's degree, and many will be at a

          3  higher level than current child welfare specialists

          4  positions.

          5                 We are also making available to all

          6  child welfare specialists who have a Bachelor's

          7  degree, the vast majority, if not all of them,

          8  access to training slots at the Satterwhite Academy

          9  to become child protective specialists.  Children's

         10  Services expects to fill up to 800 vacancies in

         11  these positions between now and July, 2008.

         12                 Children's Services will post for and

         13  hire the remaining 230 Improved Outcomes for

         14  Children staff before July 1, 2008.  Again, these

         15  positions will be open to applicants who are child

         16  welfare specialists and meet the minimum

         17  requirements.

         18                 Finally, Children's Services will

         19  work with the Department of Citywide Administrative

         20  Services to identify available positions of

         21  compatible titles throughout City government that

         22  affected child welfare specialists may be eligible

         23  to fill.

         24                 In summary, we are creating 500 new

         25  positions and making available 800 child welfare
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          2  protective specialist trainee jobs before July of

          3  2008.  That's a total of 1,300 new available

          4  positions.

          5                 Finally, I would like to acknowledge

          6  that the 15-month transition to this new system will

          7  present challenges, but we intend to make every

          8  effort to support our staff through each step of the

          9  way.

         10                 As a start, Children's Services will

         11  establish a helpline and career counseling center,

         12  so that interested staff may obtain fuller

         13  information about each of these options and hands on

         14  assistance regarding new opportunities or any aspect

         15  of the change we are putting in place.  We welcome

         16  any suggestions on how we can best do this.

         17                 There is one simple reason why we

         18  have decided to move in this direction.  This is the

         19  single most important change we can make to achieve

         20  a safe and loving family for every child under the

         21  City's care.  While this is a large scale change,

         22  Improved Outcomes for Children promises to achieve a

         23  set of specific results, and we ask to be held

         24  accountable for those results for children and

         25  families and be judged by our success in achieving
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          2  them.  The children of this City cannot afford to

          3  wait another 10, 20, 30 years any longer at all, nor

          4  should we as policy makers continue a false hope

          5  that marginal, incremental changes will produce the

          6  results that these children deserve.

          7                 A few final comments.  There is

          8  confusion about one aspect of our efforts in the

          9  coming three to six months between the closing of

         10  the final direct foster care office, a process which

         11  has been in place for at least six years, and the

         12  closing of that office will, in fact, lead to some,

         13  perhaps 90 staff, being reassigned in the agency

         14  under the terms of the contract.  At that point, all

         15  staff who are at the agency in the child welfare

         16  specialist category, and who are not permanent civil

         17  service employees, will need to begin to move

         18  immediately toward one of these options that we have

         19  laid out there.

         20                 We intend, with the union's help, I'm

         21  sure, to find spots for these provisional employees

         22  immediately.  But the fact remains that this planned

         23  staffing effort will not really hit until July 1 of

         24  next year.  That gives us, in our view, 15 months to

         25  begin the process of working through how we can go
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          2  about doing this in the best way possible.

          3                 Secondly, there is no question that

          4  the way in which this initiative became public was

          5  not the way it should have been. I have to accept,

          6  and I do accept full responsibility for that, and I

          7  want all of our staff here to know that the way in

          8  which this came out was not right.

          9                 There also have been comments made by

         10  especially media, well, headlines first, that focus

         11  primarily on what will happen by July of 2008 if we

         12  do nothing.  It's wrong to talk about this plan as

         13  if it will lead to people losing their jobs.  We

         14  have plenty of jobs here in the agency or in the

         15  City that are comparable if people want to work with

         16  us to try to have them be in the most appropriate

         17  spot.

         18                 It's also wrong for anyone to say, in

         19  my view, that this change is being made because any

         20  of these staff have done anything other than work

         21  long hours for many, many years in most cases to do

         22  their best by children and families.  The system in

         23  which they are operating now is not productive to

         24  good results. Very few people in this City who know

         25  child welfare will tell you anything else.  We have
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          2  to change that system.  This is not about problems

          3  with any individual person or all of the people in

          4  these categories.  It's a problem with how we go

          5  about doing this work.

          6                 As we move forward, we expect many of

          7  these workers to fit into the new jobs at higher

          8  levels.  We have well over 250 Master's degree

          9  people in child welfare specialist positions.  We

         10  intend and will set targets for internal hires into

         11  these brand new positions, but it is wrong to point

         12  to these staff people and say to them that they are

         13  not doing their job.  The City has set up a system

         14  where their job could not be productive of the

         15  results that we all want.

         16                 Having said that, ultimately, I have

         17  two sets of responsibilities.  My first

         18  responsibility, as a public servant in this City, is

         19  to fight for a system that will do right by every

         20  child and family we come into contact with.  I take

         21  that very seriously.  You cannot do that, though,

         22  secondly, unless you develop your workforce and give

         23  them the tools that they need to do their job.

         24  That, too, is my responsibility, and I take it

         25  seriously.
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          2                 So I'm available now to answer any

          3  questions that you might have about our plan.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO:  Thank you,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  As long as

          7  my voice holds out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, try and

          9  hold on because we have a lot of questions.

         10  Commissioner, I think I have long since established

         11  my respect for you, but I would be lying to you if I

         12  didn't tell you how disappointed I am in your

         13  testimony.  I have listened with an open mind, and I

         14  thought you had an opportunity here today to go

         15  farther in talking about how to correct a mistake

         16  that is not just a process mistake but, in my

         17  opinion, more fundamental.  Hopefully, in the line

         18  of questioning and the opportunity to answer

         19  questions, you will take the occasion to go farther.

         20                 Commissioner, it's good that you take

         21  responsibility for the mistakes that were made, but

         22  they're profound mistakes, and they have given

         23  absolutely the wrong impression to the people of

         24  this City and to the people who do the work, and

         25  that's my problem here.  It's not, again an abstract
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          2  question of process.  It's that, I said, you were

          3  captain of the team, or you could say you're general

          4  of the army or whatever metaphor you want, but these

          5  are the people who do the work and have the

          6  experience, and that does not mean every single one

          7  of them is a superstar.  I understand that fact.  It

          8  doesn't mean that there aren't some who might not

          9  need more training.  It doesn't mean there aren't

         10  some who maybe this is not the right line of work,

         11  but it does mean the vast majority are people who

         12  have really had a big impact on children's lives

         13  positively and whose experience is part of the

         14  solution and the possibility of losing that

         15  experience, to me, takes us in the wrong direction.

         16                 I make the parallel, a sad parallel,

         17  to some of the criticism we've had to level at the

         18  Department of Education, which seems hellbent on

         19  creating disincentives for experienced teachers and

         20  experienced principals to stay around and using

         21  their profound understanding of our City school

         22  system to help kids.  Not everyone can do that, and

         23  now there's an exodus of those experienced folks,

         24  and in come people with, I'm sure impressive

         25  academic credentials, particularly these new
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          2  principals, but they don't know how to manage this

          3  difficult dynamic.  I fear that we're repeating the

          4  same pattern here.  Even if you didn't abstractly

          5  want to see that happen, I fear that's the potential

          6  result.

          7                 I think you have a profound

          8  responsibility for the morale of the men and women

          9  who serve under your command and for giving them

         10  clear direction, clear reinforcement.  You know, you

         11  said a moment ago, and I think you're right, that

         12  the structure itself undermined the worker's ability

         13  to be effective.  It undermined your ability to

         14  manage.  We agree.

         15                 Anytime you want to talk about

         16  reforming and improving the outcome for kids, you're

         17  going have a very open-minded audience here.  But

         18  then, if it is about the people who do the work, why

         19  wasn't the first stop on the journey to talk to the

         20  people who do the work?

         21                 So I think, and we believe equally as

         22  people who have invested literally a lot of

         23  resources from the Council's budget process into ACS

         24  and a lot of support, it would have been good to

         25  stop here along the way, too.  But more to the
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          2  point, I think you're talking about a dynamic where

          3  we need to create effectiveness and accountability,

          4  and before any discussion of the qualitative

          5  dynamics started to really get out there, the word

          6  layoff poisoned the atmosphere.

          7                 That is not a light matter in a City

          8  that has not had layoffs, thankfully, for years now

          9  of any appreciable number. All of us who lived

         10  through the bad old days of the fiscal crisis, and

         11  the years thereafter, know what layoffs mean for

         12  people's families and what the corrosive impact on

         13  agencies, and so the minute that word came out, you

         14  have to understand why that was painful and

         15  difficult and disruptive.

         16                 If, conversely, there had been a

         17  dialogue, as I understand historically has been the

         18  case in a reorganization, a real, substantive

         19  negotiation with the union, with the workers, with

         20  other players to try and get some buy-in and

         21  agreement, not on everything.  There's always going

         22  to be some differences on details, but you're

         23  management, you have a vision, you have a right to

         24  move forward your vision, but let's work through

         25  those details and figure out together what will work
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          2  and not work.  That didn't happen, so don't be

          3  surprised at frustration across the board, and that

          4  that is not just a bad thing that withers away after

          5  a few days.  It leaves an impact, and we now have to

          6  turn that impact around, in my opinion.

          7                 Let me go to a couple of specific

          8  questions.  I know my colleagues have some as well.

          9  I don't understand what is the importance you're

         10  placing on experience in this equation.  I need you

         11  to explain that to us.  You have to microphone and

         12  the cameras and everyone is listening.  You're

         13  talking about the value of a Master's degree, and I

         14  believe that brings a lot of value.  I also think,

         15  because you've lived in the real world, you would

         16  say experience may be the biggest determinant in

         17  someone's ability to serve children in this complex

         18  situation.  So what value are you giving to the

         19  experience of your current workforce as you think

         20  about placing them into this reorganized system?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  Thank

         22  you.  I think that's a critical issue.  The fact is

         23  that we expect the long experience of many of these

         24  staff people in functions that are very different,

         25  but we do expect that experience to be a critically
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          2  important piece of the decision-making process when

          3  we pick people into these other jobs.

          4                 Now, it's very important to keep in

          5  mind the specifics of this.  If, for example, we

          6  need more family conferencing specialists who will

          7  facilitate meetings that involve very difficult

          8  decisions under very tough circumstances with foster

          9  families, birth families, often the young people

         10  themselves, and various sets of people attempting to

         11  help the family, if we need to have someone who will

         12  pull together that process, allay people's fears,

         13  help people speak what they want to speak about,

         14  what they want to have happen, including the

         15  teenager in the room, if we expect people to do

         16  that, not everyone will have those skills, that

         17  knowledge, those competencies. Surely, experience

         18  with doing child welfare work will help them with

         19  that, but it may not be the final place for them.

         20                 The fact is, though, that there will

         21  be plenty of places for them within the agency or in

         22  the City government if that particular kind of

         23  function and those particular competencies are not

         24  really what they want most in their future job.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay.  I
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          2  appreciate that you are acknowledging the importance

          3  of experience.  Now, let's talk about the structure

          4  of the process by which you're going to decide who

          5  fits where.  Again, let me affirm, and we'll hear

          6  from President Ensley, his perspective in a moment,

          7  a lot will happen between the union and the

          8  Administration on this going forward, I'm sure.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So I'm asking

         11  not about the formalities of labor negotiations.

         12  I'm asking a managerial question.

         13                 So, I think what I hear you saying is

         14  you're going to look at each individual, and

         15  individual A may come along with a lot of

         16  experience, maybe not having the Master's or

         17  whatever, but you're going to say, well, individual

         18  A has really proven themselves versus the abstract

         19  person with the Master's we've never met, and

         20  individual A should be a part of this.  But then

         21  along comes individual B who's got experience but

         22  you don't like, and I don't mean this derogatorily,

         23  you don't feel it fits the role, or maybe the

         24  specific history doesn't fit.  Maybe there hasn't

         25  been as much front-line experience, whatever you
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          2  say, individual B doesn't fit this role. It fits

          3  another role.  Is that, in layman's terms, one way

          4  you're looking at it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  We have

          6  posted already a series of very specific --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Please,

          8  please.  He's answering a question.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: -- of very

         10  specific job functions that lay out what it is that

         11  we need in a person's skills and capacities and what

         12  background we need.  That is the basis on which

         13  we're going to operate because these jobs, almost

         14  all of them are very, very different than the jobs

         15  being done by case managers at this time.

         16                 Now, many of those jobs require a

         17  Master's degree and we think that's right.  But keep

         18  in mind that hundreds of our child welfare

         19  specialists have those degrees, and their experience

         20  will be critical to our making this effort work, and

         21  we intend to pay attention to their experience.  We

         22  also expect to have not just one person making these

         23  decisions, but teams of people working together as

         24  we try to build this new team for Improved Outcomes

         25  for Children.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm just going

          3  to do just a little follow-up here.  I know Council

          4  Member White has another commitment, and I want to

          5  defer to him and the other colleagues, and I'll come

          6  back with a number of questions.  But the challenge

          7  I hear to me is, I don't hear you saying, if

          8  someone's experience, known quantity, fits, that

          9  your first stop in your personnel process would be

         10  the person you know has done the job, understands

         11  the context work, and understands what we're trying

         12  to do to help kids, that that's going to be a

         13  priority over someone who may be great, maybe newly

         14  minted Master's degree, but hasn't actually walked

         15  the walk.  If you're saying, after we've looked at

         16  all of our folks and made all the right fits, we're

         17  then going to look outside to fill what we might

         18  need to fill, as a layman I might understand that,

         19  but I don't hear a recognition that the folks you

         20  have now and their experience should come first

         21  because that's about how you help the kids first.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  With those

         23  positions being posted, they are available now, and

         24  we encourage everyone, depending on their

         25  backgrounds and whether they meet the minimum
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          2  standards, to apply now, and, yes, we will consider

          3  that experience and will consider it as soon as

          4  possible, immediately when we are able to begin the

          5  process.

          6                 We do care deeply about that

          7  experience.  We are just simply not saying that

          8  experience in a particular job will automatically

          9  mean that they can do a much more complicated and

         10  difficult job.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Again, you've

         12  had an opportunity, in my opinion, to set the record

         13  straight and balance things, and I don't think

         14  you're doing that, respectfully.

         15                 I'm going to make a statement, and

         16  welcome a comment, and then we're going to turn to

         17  the Members of the General Welfare Committee and

         18  then the other members to have their questions.

         19  Again, I'm going to come back with several after

         20  that.

         21                 My understanding is this

         22  reorganization was not approached with the

         23  consultative process that previous major

         24  reorganizations were approached with.  And that in

         25  the past, when there were plenty of tensions between
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          2  labor and management, plenty of difficult challenges

          3  happening in our communities, maybe even more

          4  difficult in some ways, both sides still found a way

          5  to discuss these matters privately, come to some

          6  core agreement before ever thinking about coming out

          7  publicly on this level.  That's part of how morale

          8  and clarity and communication were kept intact.  I

          9  don't understand why there wasn't the time to do

         10  this here.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure. I

         12  think that's important, and I'm not necessarily

         13  going to defend the timing as to how things went

         14  on.  But our approach to this was, and is, from the

         15  very first meeting with the union, to lay out the

         16  fundamental structure of our plans, to be clear

         17  about the financing structure of our plans and how

         18  it would affect staff, and to begin the process of

         19  negotiating the impact on the staff of this

         20  proposal, but also to lay out the process by which

         21  we propose to structure things.

         22                 We began that process ever since that

         23  time we have continued to answer questions, but have

         24  not, understandably, gotten into the process of

         25  working through the impact.  It's 15 months from
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          2  now.  We have the time to do this right, even if

          3  people don't feel they've been dealt with correctly

          4  up to now, and I will take responsibility for that.

          5  We still have time to work on that together, and we

          6  encourage everybody to help us with this.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Why aren't you

          8  saying to us today, you know, I'm going to leave

          9  this hearing, and I look forward to sitting down

         10  tonight with the stakeholders and resolving some of

         11  these issues?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'm happy

         13  to.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm glad, but,

         15  again, I'm having to prompt you to say this.  I'm

         16  going to finish by saying this, I am not a harsh

         17  person by nature.  Look, I think you've done a very

         18  good job in your tenure on many levels, despite some

         19  disagreements, and there's a lot of people when some

         20  things went wrong, the easy thing to say was, let's

         21  have John Mattingly's head. I was one of the people

         22  who said, publicly and privately to my colleagues

         23  and others, that's not going to solve anything, and

         24  I think there are a lot of good things he's doing,

         25  and let's respect that, but, most importantly, that
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          2  is the easy way out, and if we do that, we are

          3  disrupting the work of the agency, of the people

          4  trying to get the job done.

          5                 So simply saying, let's have his

          6  head, doesn't help our children.  And you will

          7  notice how the members of this Council, even in the

          8  most difficult moments, did not run to the cameras

          9  to say, let's have John Mattingly's head, which I

         10  think is another example that I wish the Mayor would

         11  sometimes acknowledge of how high road and

         12  substantive the members of this Council are.

         13                 If that was the atmosphere, if every

         14  day you wake up to those headlines, you would be

         15  distracted.  I don't care how good a public servant

         16  you are, how devoted, how focused, you'd be

         17  distracted, and it wouldn't help you do your work

         18  better and make the tough decisions better to have

         19  people breathing down your neck about whether you

         20  survive in your job.

         21                 Now, you didn't mean to, I know in

         22  your heart you didn't mean to create that same

         23  emotion or that same dynamic for the people who

         24  serve under your command, but I fear, inadvertently,

         25  you've done that, and that's not going to help them
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          2  to get their job done.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I just want

          4  to take you up on your offer.  I'm willing tonight,

          5  after this meeting, to sit down with Jim Hanley and

          6  the union to talk through at least the first stages

          7  of this, so that we can get underway.  I'm quite

          8  willing to do that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All I can say,

         10  as I said in the beginning, I'm not going to get

         11  into intricacies of labor relations because I don't

         12  even begin to understand them.  I would encourage

         13  dialogue, and I hope all the players do immediately

         14  start meeting and meeting constantly to resolve this

         15  and move this forward together.

         16                 Now we're going to turn to the other

         17  members of the General Welfare Committee for their

         18  questions.  Council Member Tom White.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Chairman.  Let me first start off by

         21  saying that I do hold an MSW from Stonybrook

         22  University, and let me just say that I'm a former

         23  member of Local 371.  Now, the issue, just looking

         24  at it, not into it, just at it, I would think, I'm

         25  not going assume, I'm going to ask, the first row,
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          2  is that your staff?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It's a few

          4  of them, yes.

          5                 (Applause.)

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Yes.  And I'm

          7  saying this because it doesn't represent the kind of

          8  diversity in terms of --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Listen,

         10  listen, listen.  I'm sorry, ladies and gentlemen,

         11  there's a lot of people in this room who are deeply

         12  concerned about your concerns, are raising them

         13  here, are trying to act as voices for you, but

         14  you've got to respect this is a hearing room.  This

         15  is not a stadium, okay? Please work with us.  We

         16  have limited time.  So, please.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Thank you.

         18  Kindly respect where I'm going with this because I

         19  would like to follow the Chair and the rest of the

         20  Committee.  We're trying to resolve an issue that is

         21  very close to protecting our children and the

         22  workers and everybody concerned.  So we have to take

         23  a look at things as we perceive them.

         24                 Now, the issue of the new direction,

         25  that's why I brought that up, the new direction that
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          2  you would like to go in, if it does not have the

          3  kind of diversity and the kind of cultural mix in

          4  coming up with the recommendations that you're

          5  making, you're doomed to fail.  You're doomed to

          6  fail.  What I'm saying is, I don't think failure is

          7  part of your agenda, nor ours, but we have to take a

          8  look at it for what it is.

          9                 Now, I don't know who made up the new

         10  rules and regulations and job descriptions of

         11  master's degrees, or whether cultural diversity was

         12  entwined in that.  If it wasn't, then it should have

         13  been.

         14                 In terms of inside promotions, I

         15  think you should have taken a look at that.  I do

         16  have, and members in my community, constituents, who

         17  work for ACS who have brought what I say some

         18  constructive criticism to me concerning the Archer

         19  Avenue site, Zone B, the Casey Foundation.  What is

         20  the Casey Foundation?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The N.E.

         22  Casey Foundation is a foundation committed to

         23  supporting disadvantaged children and their

         24  families.  It's based in Baltimore, Maryland, and it

         25  has a major child welfare component.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Do you plan

          3  to, or have you contacted them in reference to them

          4  being a part of the restructuring that you are

          5  recommending to ACS?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  They have no

          7  role in our plans for restructuring ACS at this

          8  time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  They have not

         10  been consulted or anything of that nature?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  There's been

         12  no formal consultation.  I won't say there hasn't

         13  been any comments or any questions, but I don't know

         14  what this is about, so help me.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Well, it's

         16  about a constituent coming to my office who works

         17  for ACS who voiced a concern, and I see an

         18  opportunity to ask you about the Casey Foundation.

         19  Because maybe they were involved indirectly through

         20  a conversation on how best to do some or a little

         21  bit of this reorganization or duplication of what

         22  they have an expertise in. That's the reason for me

         23  asking the question.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, two

         25  things.  One, this comes from the leadership group
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          2  in this agency.  It doesn't come from outside the

          3  agency.  We have had consultants from Casey who were

          4  involved in primarily the upgrading of our child

          5  protective effort, so, yes, we've had people, and

          6  they're not really foundation employees, they're

          7  child welfare experts from around the country, who

          8  do the work in other cities, and they have indeed

          9  consulted with staff in the field offices about how

         10  to do better child protective work.  That's not,

         11  though, related to this.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay, well,

         13  everything is relative.  We can piecemeal this to

         14  death, but we're talking about a whole system here.

         15  And we're talking about morale.  As far as the --

         16  being a former union delegate, as well, as far as

         17  the issue of changing job descriptions, if you're

         18  talking about Master's degrees, then quite naturally

         19  you're talking about more money for somebody to do

         20  the work that somebody is currently doing the work

         21  and getting paid less; am I correct?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Not in this

         23  case.  They will be doing different work altogether.

         24  Keep in mind also that hundreds, as many as 300,

         25  could be more, of these staff people have Master's
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          2  degrees.  The diversity, because I checked, the

          3  diversity among the Master's degreed people in this

          4  agency is every bit as strong as with the rest of

          5  the agency.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.  I'm not

          7  going to belabor this too much.  I'll just make a

          8  statement.  I really don't want anyone to -- I'm not

          9  looking for applause.  I'm looking for results.

         10                 It is very hard, I mean, it is

         11  extremely hard, Mr. Chairman, for me to honestly

         12  believe that there are no people, other than people

         13  of color in the system.  Yet, every time we have a

         14  hearing, we don't hear from them.  The same with the

         15  Welfare system.  I've never seen a welfare system,

         16  for lack of better clarification, that was in a

         17  white community.  And everybody, I would assume,

         18  would be on Welfare.  I don't believe that every

         19  child in this system is Black and Latino alone.  I

         20  think that the presentation and the workers would

         21  give the perception that they are.  If we told the

         22  whole story, for instance, let me ask a question.

         23  How many white children are in the foster care

         24  system?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'm sorry.
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          2  I don't have that number right now.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Could you get

          4  it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It is not

          6  many.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  But could you

          8  get it?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Of course.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  You mean

         12  that are in the foster care system?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Foster care.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Or child care.

         16  And one more question, because I'd like to know.

         17  Child Stat, could you explain Child Stat to me?

         18  That's my final question.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  Child

         20  Stat is part of the child safety plan, and it

         21  involves our sitting down with the managers from a

         22  given zone every week, two zones a week, and with

         23  all of the leaders in the agency to look carefully

         24  at how the child protective effort is being carried

         25  out, to look at the availability of preventive slots
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          2  for those child protective workers, and to look at

          3  how many cases are returning to us after an

          4  investigation, things like that.  We also randomly

          5  pick a case and look through it quite carefully to

          6  find out what is going on in our front-line practice

          7  and how we might improve it.  The attendees are the

          8  child protective managers, deputy directors and

          9  borough directors and my deputy commissioners.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Well, the

         11  reason why I asked you that is because I owe it to

         12  my constituent.  I had a complaint about a Tyrane

         13  Davison (phonetic), Deputy Director, and a Mitchell

         14  Walker, who was promoted.  I'm told that the workers

         15  are put and grilled about decisions that they've

         16  made concerning a particular case, and the manner in

         17  which it's done they think is not as professional as

         18  it should be.  Could you look into that for me?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes,

         20  definitely.  That must be in preparation for child

         21  staff because front-line staff people are not

         22  grilled in Child Stat itself, but I will definitely

         23  look into that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Okay.  Thank

         25  you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

          3  Council Member. Now Council Member Annabel Palma.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 Commissioner Mattingly, I have a lot

          7  of mixed feelings about what's going on, but I guess

          8  we've heard a lot from my colleagues on how we feel

          9  about how the changes happened and how they were

         10  announced and how we found out about them, but

         11  still, I'll stick to more of wanting to know.

         12                 In regards to the new plan, how

         13  realistic is the time line for these changes to take

         14  into effect, knowing that we have, by your comments,

         15  knowing that there are so many qualified staff

         16  already in the agency, what kind of training are you

         17  going to put them through to secure that they now

         18  will be able to fill this positions, and that we

         19  don't lose any of the staff members that we

         20  currently have in ACS?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The time

         22  frame is the next 15 months for all but the direct

         23  foster care component, which I've mentioned earlier

         24  that's really not part of this plan.  So we have 15

         25  months to post the positions as we've started, to
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          2  interview people, to hire people and to get them

          3  trained.  That can begin in May, as and when we

          4  reach agreement with the union about the process,

          5  and we will provide specialized training for, for

          6  example, the family conferencing workers.  There are

          7  people around the country who know how to do a

          8  family conference, and it is hard, and we want to

          9  bring in people from around the country, but also

         10  people who have been doing it here, both in the

         11  private agencies and in our own agency, to get

         12  everyone up to speed, so everyone can do the job

         13  that they are given.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  And this

         15  change that's about to take place obviously has

         16  raised many concerns.  My concerns are not only for

         17  the staff.  There's going to be so many changes.  I

         18  know the staff now may have a huge burden of

         19  caseloads on them. What's going to happen to those

         20  caseloads?  Are they going to be micromanaged to try

         21  to finish closing out cases?  How are we monitoring

         22  how the work is going to get done within 15 months

         23  to ensure that we don't have any tragic moments

         24  happen within the next 15 months?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Very
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          2  important question. We have set it up in such a way

          3  that the case management functions will continue

          4  throughout the 15 months while we build this much

          5  more intensive monitoring and oversight system,

          6  which will begin July 1, so that we'll have both in

          7  place as we move forward.  One will be declining as

          8  people accept these other positions, and one will be

          9  in place.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA:  And the

         11  families that are now involved in ACS, what type of

         12  outreach have we done to make them feel that these

         13  changes are not going to prolong their cases within

         14  the system?  Many of them feel already that they

         15  don't get --

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes.  I have

         17  met personally with birth parents going back for two

         18  and a half years about what the system -- how they

         19  are treated now.  I meet with them regularly to talk

         20  through the directions that we think we need to take

         21  and get their consultation.  I met with some of them

         22  as recently as this week.  Generally speaking, of

         23  course, they're going to be very cautious, but they

         24  believe that these changes should be able to help us

         25  move forward more quickly on their family
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          2  situations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Just in

          4  closing, I commend you for stating that you would

          5  invite the union to sit down as early as tonight.  I

          6  strongly support and encourage that that happens.  I

          7  think it is the only way we can do some damage

          8  control here.  As a labor organizer, as a union

          9  delegate and a union member, who went through many

         10  negotiations with management, it only seems right to

         11  have the people that are going to be mostly affected

         12  by this across the table to be part of any new

         13  implementation.  I think for many years a lot of

         14  these people in this room have been doing this type

         15  of work, and it only would seem right that they be

         16  given first priority to continue to do the work that

         17  they decided to do from the beginning.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         19  Council Member.

         20                 Now, Council Member Gale Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         22  very much.  I remember, because I chair Technology,

         23  I'm more familiar with DOITT and some of the other

         24  agencies, and when 311 went into existence, the

         25  Commissioner Gino Menchini was in charge.  I don't
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          2  know if you were here, but all of the information

          3  and referral people were retrained and moved over

          4  very effectively to 311.  I think it was done with a

          5  lot of dialogue.  Do you know if that same kind of

          6  dialogue has taken place as you move forward with

          7  this plan?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, that

          9  sort of dialogue --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It's a

         11  question.  I don't know the answer.  I only know the

         12  311 procedures because I was involved in that.  And

         13  I know people felt that this was a place in which

         14  they could move effectively with training and

         15  support, and it was a challenge because you're

         16  moving from one agency to another. You want to be

         17  very careful on your seniority, et cetera.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, that

         19  dialogue has not substantially occurred yet.  We

         20  expect it to occur immediately, and we wanted it to

         21  begin Tuesday a week ago, so we're available for all

         22  of that dialogue.  It is true that we wanted to

         23  frame out the substance of this change and consider

         24  the implications in terms of funding and everything

         25  else before we presented it, and that's what we did.
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          2                 It is available now for full

          3  negotiation of the impact of the plan on staff.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  When 311 did

          5  it, it was a situation, as I understand it, that

          6  everybody was offered another job, and everybody was

          7  offered the requisite training because it was a very

          8  different agency and environment.  So is that

          9  something that -- obviously, we're not negotiating

         10  now, but is that something that you have thought

         11  about in terms of the future?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  In other

         14  words, is it possible to have that same kind of

         15  model?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It is

         17  possible.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Again, with

         19  very different kinds of jobs.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It's also

         21  our intention that everyone will have a job with the

         22  City and hopefully with this agency by the time we

         23  get to the next 15 months and are ready to move

         24  forward with the new design.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  The
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          2  other question I have is, I know you've said

          3  correctly, and I know this has always been your goal

          4  to try to, as you suggest, reduce moves for foster

          5  care children, permanent homes that are safer, et

          6  cetera.  How do you feel that that kind of

          7  accountability, I guess that's the buzz word, is

          8  possible, just in your own words, with this kind of

          9  plan? In other words, is it the conferencing?  Is it

         10  the different kind of job title?  What is it that is

         11  going to make this plan so different, and have such

         12  different outcomes than the current plan?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  We

         14  intend to have teams of staff who are trained and

         15  supported and able to focus intensively on outcomes,

         16  on results, on the data that every agency is

         17  achieving or is not, we intend to have them deployed

         18  to work with the agencies to both provide them with

         19  help and, when necessary, to see to it that they

         20  change their practice.  They will be in the field

         21  regularly working to improve outcomes.

         22                 But the most important piece of it,

         23  in a way, is that every month we intend to produce

         24  outcome reports that show how successful or not, or

         25  where we have success and where we don't, improving
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          2  those specific outcomes that we are targeting.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Also, how

          4  will this better or how is it thought about that

          5  you're going to work with the contracted agencies

          6  who have staff also?  How will that change?  Or will

          7  it be the same?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It will

          9  change, and it will change quite dramatically.

         10  Right now, because of the way the system is

         11  structured, case planners in the private agencies

         12  have to seek through a record process basically

         13  approval from our agency to do various specific

         14  things.  What we intend to do is be in the room when

         15  the big decisions are made and have a team of people

         16  who will be following up, not only with the

         17  agencies, but in Family Court, to see to it that as

         18  we look at all the cases, not just in any individual

         19  case, we'll be pressing for better results.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I only say

         21  that in this case, because I've been around a long

         22  time, and the issue for me why I'm able to be

         23  somewhat successful is because I have experience in

         24  knowing, as they say in my world, where the bodies

         25  are buried, but in your world, how the different
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          2  services, how children and families react together,

          3  et cetera, all those things that go into experience.

          4  So I guess my feeling would be that it seems like it

          5  is possible.  It should happen, that whatever

          6  juggling is done, it be done as a result of

          7  discussions with the union, but how you could do

          8  this very complicated job without that kind of

          9  experience I think is a challenge.  I just think

         10  that that would be your number one concern.  I see

         11  what you're trying to accomplish, but I would agree

         12  with the Chairman, how you do that without long-term

         13  experience I think is your bigger challenge.  Thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         16  Council Member.

         17                 Now Council Member Charles Barron.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Commissioner,

         19  just help me here.  Now, I'm really trying to

         20  understand.  I think you're trying to get at having

         21  your workers having more contact with families

         22  through these teams and these conferences.  You do

         23  have 1,450 child care specialists, and you want to

         24  take 650 of them who deal with case management and

         25  move them somewhere else and bring in MSWs.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Not quite.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Not quite.

          4  Well, help me.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, we

          6  expect hundreds of the 650 people to move into these

          7  jobs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  To move into

          9  those spots, but then the rest you will find

         10  somewhere for them?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  No, we won't

         12  find somewhere for them.  The CPS jobs, for example,

         13  are actually high-level jobs.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay, I

         15  gotcha.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  They're

         17  doing a very important thing.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I gotcha.

         19  Let me ask you this:  The specific skills that one

         20  needs to make these contacts with the families

         21  qualitative; could you just outline that for me?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  A

         23  person, for example, who runs a family conference

         24  has to be able, with understanding what child

         25  protection is all about, and child welfare, to move
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          2  a group of people with very different perspectives

          3  about what's going on.  Let's say the birth parent,

          4  who has been called to this meeting because the

          5  foster parent believes that this child has to get

          6  out of my home.  Instead of the way it happens now,

          7  which is that that foster parent will call a few

          8  times and then finally gives up and says, come get

          9  this young man. Instead of that happening, we're

         10  going to bring everybody into a room, including the

         11  young man, and it's the ability of a staff person to

         12  bring that group to consensus in a way that meets

         13  the needs of this child without just simply avoiding

         14  problems and getting together and being nice.  In

         15  these kind of situations I've seen that birth parent

         16  weigh in on the side of the foster parent.  We've

         17  got, your behavior is not acceptable.  We need to

         18  work together on this.  That then leaves the foster

         19  parent and the birth parent in a new relationship

         20  because they're working together.  That will mean

         21  that the child can return home sooner. This set of

         22  knowledge and skills for a family conference

         23  facilitator is demanding.  I'm sure that we have

         24  many people who will be able to fit into that, and

         25  who have the skills and background and knowledge.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  But not

          4  everyone would.  I would not.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right. Well,

          6  not everyone can even read a presentation without

          7  missing the pages sometimes.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  That's cold.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  That's

         10  challenging. You need a Ph.D. just to read your

         11  testimony in order.  All jokes aside, what you just

         12  mentioned, Commissioner, I think it would have been

         13  fairer to say, let me do an inventory of the skills

         14  that we have. Let's do an inventory.  And if you

         15  say, it's convening a conference with families to

         16  pull some stuff together, let me convene and see

         17  what skills do we actually have?  Let's do an

         18  inventory before we throw out any alarm that we need

         19  some Master's and switch and change, and if you want

         20  to get at conferences, because what you just

         21  outlined, it's an important feat, but it's not a

         22  major skill that it takes a rocket scientist to do.

         23  It's not a major skill.

         24                 I think to be honest with you I think

         25  that's where some of the racism comes in.  Because
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          2  people don't appreciate the abilities of those of us

          3  who are of African ancestry, and most of the

          4  children are Black and Latino.  Believe me, I can

          5  probably get an average brother and sister off the

          6  block that knows what's going on in our families,

          7  could sit at one of those conferences and probably

          8  do a job that a Ph.D. couldn't come close to doing.

          9  Couldn't come close to doing.

         10                 So I want to say to you in all due

         11  seriousness, I really think you should back up off

         12  the plan, and let's start with a clean slate and

         13  say, look, I rushed to judgment.  I moved too fast.

         14  It got out there, and it shouldn't have.  It created

         15  an alarm.  I'm willing to meet tonight, tomorrow

         16  night, but I'm going to make a commitment to back up

         17  off this plan and sit with you and see if in fact --

         18  you know, I used to teach negotiating techniques,

         19  and there's one thing where you get at interest and

         20  then there's position.

         21                 The problem we have when we are

         22  trying to resolve things is we get caught on

         23  positions -- that we have to have MSWs, and we got

         24  to do it by July 1, and we got to do it now and all

         25  of that, instead of getting to interest.  So what is
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          2  the real interest here, and can we possibly reach

          3  that interest with what we have?  If we can't, let's

          4  say everybody's just not up to snuff, because that

          5  might be maybe two or three people, maybe ten of us.

          6  It may not be 650.  You just took that number 650,

          7  we'll get them out and move them in.  That's random,

          8  and it's not like it was done with any evaluation,

          9  any fair assessment, any conversation.  So maybe we

         10  should just back up off that and say, look, I had a

         11  hearing, it's not going to be just another hearing

         12  for exercise, and, I heard you all, but I'm going

         13  ahead anyway.

         14                 Maybe back up off it and look to see,

         15  if, in fact, that we can fill the interest with what

         16  we have, and give them a raise in the process.  I

         17  just think that that might be a good thing to do.

         18                 Finally, did you talk to the Mayor

         19  about this?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  You spoke to

         22  Mayor Bloomberg about this?  What did he say?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, this

         24  is the Administration's plan and I'm representing

         25  the Administration.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I got that.

          3  I'm clear on the process, but I said, what did the

          4  Mayor say about the plan? Does he like it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The Mayor

          6  stands behind this plan.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So you all

          8  sat down and went through the numbers and he said

          9  this is a great, great --

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The Mayor

         11  stands behind this plan.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay.  He has

         13  an MSW?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  No, I don't

         15  think so.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Oh, my

         17  gracious.  You talk to somebody without an MSW.

         18                 Lastly, I was looking at your staff,

         19  as well, on the front row.  You could have even

         20  fronted it and put one or two blacks up there.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I don't do

         22  that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Oh, you don't

         24  front, so you're going tell the real deal.  I ain't

         25  bringing no Blacks.  You don't be fronting, right?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Oh, they're

          3  here.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Where are

          5  they?  In the back?  See, that's why some of us feel

          6  a lot of City agencies, as we often said, it's like

          7  the Rocky Mountains, the higher up you get to the

          8  top, the whiter it gets.  I think if we want to

          9  really, and I know you inherited a lot of staff,

         10  we've talked about this before, but at some point if

         11  we want to really get the structural change, then it

         12  has to start at the top, so that's very reflective

         13  of what's going on in the families and

         14  neighborhoods.

         15                 But, Commissioner, I just would like

         16  advise you once again, back up off the plan.  I

         17  think we proceeded wrong, and I think if we all have

         18  the interest of families and children at heart,

         19  you'll sit down with the union and say, let's start

         20  a brand new.  Somebody wants me to ask one question?

         21  I'm sorry.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: Do you like the

         23  question?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I don't know

         25  what it is.
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          2                 In the family conference, what

          3  happens by the Master's qualified ASC family

          4  conference specialist and the private contract

          5  agency cannot agree; who makes the final decision?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It will

          7  happen like this. First of all, about 90 percent of

          8  these family conferences -- well, actually well

          9  above that, reach consensus because everybody's got

         10  to work to agree, everybody.  When that doesn't

         11  happen, our staffperson will be there in these

         12  essential conferences, but it will be up to an

         13  agency exec., high level agency exec., to come into

         14  that room and break the lack of consensus.  The

         15  facility --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So the power

         17  goes to the agency exec.?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The

         19  facilitator then has access to me, to me, if he

         20  believes or she believes this is not safe for

         21  children. But you can't hold people accountable for

         22  results if you don't give them authority to make the

         23  key decisions.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So just so I

         25  can be clear, it is the agency exec. who will have
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          2  authority, and if the staff worker from ACS is not

          3  pleased with that agency exec.'s decision, they can

          4  come to you?  You will have final authority over

          5  that?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I have to.

          7  It's my job.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Okay. All

          9  right.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

         12  Thank you very much, Council Member.

         13                 Now Council Member Tish James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner,

         15  you know we're living in very precarious times in

         16  the City of New York. Particularly moderate -, and

         17  middle-income and low-income families are being

         18  threatened by the crisis in affordable housing.

         19  Individuals in government, particularly in

         20  communities of color, are losing their jobs.  I've

         21  been before you before with respect to this notion

         22  of union busting.  We've had a hearing on several

         23  occasions with regards to day care workers and your

         24  transferring and several agencies day care centers,

         25  particularly in Central Brooklyn that have closed,
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          2  and how we're transferring money to private

          3  agencies.

          4                 DOE yesterday announced again another

          5  reorganization, more money to privatize agencies.

          6  In the City of New York increasingly this

          7  government, this Administration, this Mayor of the

          8  City of New York is privatizing.  We are not going

          9  forward.  We're going backwards.  Some would argue

         10  back to the good old days.  I don't know if there

         11  was anything good about them, but back to the good

         12  old days.  The impact that that is having,

         13  particularly on moderate - and middle-income

         14  families, and particularly on communities of color,

         15  it is having a disparate impact on communities of

         16  color.

         17                 Earlier individuals talked about race

         18  and racism. Let me be the voice of reason.  The

         19  impact that this has had on communities of color you

         20  cannot ignore.  It's factual.  It may not be race.

         21  In your mind it's race neutral, but the effect of it

         22  is race based, because a significant number of your

         23  workers, or the majority of your workers are black

         24  and brown people.  So that really has to go into

         25  your decision making with respect to any
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          2  reorganization that you have in this agency.

          3                 The criticism that was made of your

          4  staff, which is a fine staff, but often times the

          5  question is whether or not any of your top level

          6  people consider that.  I don't know if they consider

          7  that if, in fact, they do not walk in those shoes.

          8  So in order to walk in those shoes, one would have

          9  to be someone presumably, some one of color.  That's

         10  why the criticism was made up here, and that's why

         11  there's so many people out here in the audience who

         12  look like me.  So many of them because we are in a

         13  very precarious state in this City, people of color,

         14  that we come to you with these criticisms, and we

         15  come to you with our observations.

         16                 You can't ignore the fact that this

         17  appears to be union busting, another example of

         18  union busting.  Just another example.  The day care

         19  centers that I'm -- part me and the Chairman are

         20  leading the charge on, and now 371.  1707 and now

         21  371.  I'm not a member of this Committee, but when

         22  you see this pattern, it has to concern you.

         23                 Homelessness is up.  Poverty is up.

         24  Increasingly, people can't afford to live in this

         25  City, and now we're talking about the possibility of
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          2  laying off people.  At a time when we've got a $4

          3  billion surplus, this is not the time to be talking

          4  about layoffs.  This is not the time.  Please hold

          5  the applause. You take me away from my train of

          6  thought.  This is not the time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Council

          8  Member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I'll get

         10  there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Questions are

         12  helpful too.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And we're

         14  going to get there to the question but it's got to

         15  be a build up.  So all I say to you, Commissioner,

         16  is, you know, you talked a lot about hope.  You said

         17  hopefully we can employ all of these people and we

         18  can reassign them and all of that.  But, you know,

         19  my faith teaches me that hope and faith without work

         20  is meaningless.  Is absolutely meaningless.  To talk

         21  about absolutes in your testimony, that you have to

         22  have an MSW, that you have to have this, and you

         23  have to have that, absolutes get us always in

         24  trouble.  Whenever people talk about talk in

         25  absolutes, that concerns me, as opposed to using
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          2  discretionary language, which says something like,

          3  if in fact you don't have an MSW, we will consider

          4  your experience.  It will be an option.  In

          5  everywhere I go, in every application that you look

          6  at, in every ad for a position, it always talks

          7  about in the absence of a degree we will give

          8  serious and strong consideration to your years of

          9  experience.  Why not ACS, Commissioner?

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Thank you.

         11  I think it's a very important set of questions.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  First, there

         14  is -- I'm not talking about hope.  I'm saying quite

         15  clearly there is no reason why any of our staff in

         16  this process need to lose a position with the

         17  agency, or, a good position with the agency, or a

         18  comparable position at another agency.  There is no

         19  reason whatsoever.  We need to work together on this

         20  beginning now in order to get there.

         21                 Secondly, I am convinced, and I am

         22  committed to see to it that our staff will remain as

         23  diverse as it is now after this change happens.

         24  There is no question about that.  That's why I went

         25  and looked ahead to make sure that simply putting
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          2  that Master's degree in social work up there

          3  wouldn't lead to less diversity.  It will not, based

          4  on the facts now.  I think your concerns are

          5  absolutely right.  I think we should all keep on top

          6  of them and not simply turn away at the end of this

          7  hearing.  But I'm committed to them, as well.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But,

          9  Commissioner, I'm concerned about unemployment.  I'm

         10  concerned about an increase in poverty rates.  I'm

         11  concerned about people losing their bread and

         12  butter, their basic felt needs, which is a job, and

         13  that's why so many people have concerns.  And it

         14  appears from your testimony that as a result of

         15  issues or policy decisions prior to your

         16  Administration, and even in your Administration, you

         17  are blaming workers, blaming victims for the fact

         18  that so many children are languishing in the child

         19  welfare system.  You know that the issue is much

         20  more complicated than that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Very much.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  As you know,

         23  as a former Counsel to Council Member Al Vann for

         24  ten years, I was Counsel to his Committee in Albany

         25  on Children of Family Service.  You also know,
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          2  Commissioner, that Council Member, then Assemblyman

          3  Al Vann, we did our best to fund minority agencies.

          4  As you know, today those minority agencies do not

          5  exist.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Actually,

          7  I've been struggling for two and a half years to

          8  make sure that seven or eight of them continue to

          9  exist, and we certainly want them to join into this

         10  effort as soon as they are willing to do so, so

         11  they'll have more resources to work in behalf of

         12  children and families.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  But this

         14  Administration has this privatization and this

         15  business model, which is something that is reflected

         16  in all of the agencies.  Again, my concern is that

         17  we will go back to the good old days where Catholic

         18  Charities and agencies such as that will get the

         19  lion's share of the public dollars.  And that the

         20  staff will not reflect the children which are 90

         21  percent children of color.  I know that because I

         22  still from time to time practice in Family Court.

         23  Just like most of the Judges in Family Court don't

         24  reflect the children.

         25                 So the issue, again, is the workers
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          2  that currently have a large degree of experience,

          3  know these children, reflect their life experience,

          4  and I truly believe, and I know for a fact, share

          5  your objectives, and your objectives, as you

          6  outlined in your testimony, it hasn't changed.

          7  That's reflected in state policy that goes back for

          8  years and years and years.  This is no major change

          9  of practices and models.  No, it's really not. What

         10  you're doing is just giving to private agencies,

         11  making it a 360 degree shift in change and it's

         12  really, again, I believe going to have a major

         13  impact on union, and it's union busting.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I do want to

         15  say that this plan will increase and intensify the

         16  oversight we're providing to these private agencies.

         17  That's quite real and very much a part of this.  We

         18  do not want to go back to where the City was 25, 30

         19  years ago, which any member of this system was

         20  completely dominant.  We have to be in a position

         21  where we, as the public agency, closely and up to

         22  date monitor what's going on, not just in an

         23  individual case, but in every case that that agency

         24  is carrying.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So then,
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          2  Commissioner, why can't these individuals who now

          3  work in this Agency Program Assistance Unit, which

          4  is part of the quality assurance and, for the most

          5  part, process computer-generated data, why can't

          6  they constitute this family team conference model?

          7  Why can't they, for the most part, be this

          8  conference model?  Why does a private agency have to

          9  be a part of it?  Why do we have to increase funds

         10  so that the agencies currently be a part of it?  Why

         11  can't we restructure this agency so that they are

         12  members of this family team conference model?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  We

         14  expect many of our staff will be in this new

         15  monitoring role or this family conferencing role.

         16  There's no doubt about that.  But we are not

         17  increasing money to the private agencies to carry

         18  out that function.  We are saying, hence forth, this

         19  practice model calls for the key decisions to be

         20  made in family conferences.  If you want to work

         21  with the City of New York, we expect that to be the

         22  way in which decisions get made.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And these

         24  individuals, for the most part, look at this data to

         25  look at family history, and they look at the data to
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          2  determine any trends or what's going on in the

          3  family.  I don't see why these individuals cannot

          4  meet with the families, as you are suggesting as a

          5  result of this new model, and continue to keep their

          6  jobs.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  There is no

          8  reason why many, most will see of these workers who

          9  do good work now cannot fit in to these higher level

         10  jobs, whether it's family conferencing or not, their

         11  experience definitely relates to much of the

         12  monitoring work that's going to go on.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So then,

         14  Commissioner, why can't you change your language and

         15  qualify your language as opposed to saying, I mean

         16  your testimony that they must have a Master's

         17  degree, that they may have a Master's degree?  That

         18  would be a step in the right direction.

         19                 Let me also say that at the end of

         20  the day I believe, because I happen to be an

         21  attorney, I believe that this is in violation of

         22  some labor law in violation of their contract. I

         23  truly believe that.  I think that will be the saving

         24  grace here. I suspect, and I'm waiting to hear from

         25  Mr. Ensley, that this is in violation of the

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  contract that was negotiated by the City of New York

          3  and 371.  I'm confident of that.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, let me

          5  just respond to that.  We have worked hand-in-hand

          6  with Commissioner Hanley and OLR.  We have worked

          7  hand-in-hand with the Law Department.  We have

          8  worked hand-in-hand with DCAS as we develop this

          9  plan, they believe and I believe that if we are

         10  clear about the difference between a restructuring

         11  and its impact on the workers, that we still have

         12  much work to do on the impact question, but we have

         13  the authority to announce that we are heading in

         14  this new direction within 15 months.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Sure, you have

         16  the authority to announce it.  The question is

         17  whether or not you have the legal right to do it.

         18  My question is, what legal authority gives you the

         19  right to reorganize and/or restructure an agency, a

         20  program assistance unit, which would fundamentally

         21  change one's job performance, one's pay, everything,

         22  one's benefits?  I mean, I could see a lateral move,

         23  but you are fundamentally having a great impact on

         24  the benefits that these workers enjoy currently.  I

         25  believe that that's in violation of the labor
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          2  agreement that you negotiated with 371 in good

          3  faith.  So to do this, to me, is an act of bad faith

          4  and in violation of the law.  I know you don't have

          5  Counsel next to you but --

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes. We

          7  could continue this discussion with Commissioner

          8  Hanley. The basics of it are, from our perspective,

          9  that management has the right to decide what will

         10  work best to get the results we need.  The impact of

         11  that on labor, on staff, has to be dealt with, and

         12  we intend to do that as soon as we can get to the

         13  table.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Well,

         15  Commissioner, this is not going to go away.  I

         16  happen to be an attorney, and just because one has a

         17  law degree or a Master's degree, there's the

         18  presumption of intelligence, but that presumption

         19  has been rebutted over and over again as a result of

         20  all the attorneys that I've met in my lifetime.

         21  I've met a lot of stupid lawyers.  This whole

         22  requirement for MSW, for me it's really having

         23  someone who has the experience, having someone who

         24  has a heart full of love for children and having

         25  someone who has a soul generated by a commitment to
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          2  your objectives, and I'm certain that all the people

          3  here have that, and that's why I stand with them and

          4  oppose this reorganization and am ready and willing

          5  and able to sign onto any legal brief in opposition.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

          8  Council Member.

          9                 Commissioner, let's talk more about

         10  the role of the private agencies, because I think

         11  there's a certain amount of confusion here.

         12                 When you talk about the

         13  decision-making process, you made clear the ultimate

         14  appeal would be to you.  I hear that as you making a

         15  commitment that that's you personally, and I

         16  appreciate that, but what I'm unclear about is how

         17  many substantial decisions might be made by these

         18  agencies about individual children's lives without

         19  ACS's direct involvement?  Let me hasten to say we

         20  do not want bureaucracy that stands in the way of a

         21  speedy resolution of a child's situation.  I've made

         22  the point about Family Court.  I would make it about

         23  anything that might stop a child from getting

         24  situated properly as quickly as possible.

         25                 But on the other hand, on the
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          2  protective side, if anything, we have reinvigorated

          3  and refocused on the public role, the government

          4  role, as the entity that can best protect children.

          5  We've added resources to make sure that can work

          6  best.  We know there's nothing that replaces that

          7  governmental role in terms of ultimate

          8  responsibility for a child's life.

          9                 I'm just concerned because I don't

         10  understand, literally don't understand, what are the

         11  limits of what the private agencies get to do under

         12  this new plan?  How do you even know if there's

         13  something that you might be concerned about that you

         14  might want to intervene in?

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.

         16  Important question.

         17                 First, we will be in the room for

         18  every decision about the future of a child and

         19  family, even such thing as, we're going to move a

         20  child from one home to another, or from an RTC into

         21  a foster family home, those will be made with us in

         22  the room.  Trained, experienced, capable people who

         23  will help the group and the agency reach consensus

         24  about what the best thing is to do now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  What's the
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          2  title of that person in the room going to be?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  "Family

          4  Conference Facilitator."

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Family

          6  Conference Facilitator as a title does not exist

          7  currently?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And that's the

         10  title that would require an MSW?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And just stay

         13  with me one more second.  MSW only or MSW plus some

         14  specific other necessary qualifications?

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'm sure

         16  there are others, but I don't have it right in front

         17  of me right now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  One more, just

         19  bear with me. We're going to move quick here because

         20  there is a lot to cover. MSW or else, or are you

         21  saying, MSW or possible comparable experience?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  MSWs will be

         23  required for, or Master's degrees will be required

         24  for these jobs, no question about it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm not going
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          2  to pass judgment about it.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Can I just

          4  finish, though? I was in the middle of this.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I know.  I

          6  just needed to get it clear.  So now you're in the

          7  room with the family.  Say it one more time.  Family

          8   --

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Conference

         10  Facilitator.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Conference

         12  facilitators, okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  And the

         14  people making this decision.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  So the

         17  agency has the responsibility to make the decision

         18  not with just a worker or a worker and supervisor,

         19  but with the worker and the agency staff who have

         20  working with this family.  We, however, will be

         21  there to oversee the process and the result.  If

         22  consensus cannot be reached, and that happens less

         23  than 10 percent of the time, we will expect a high

         24  level private agency professional to step in and

         25  make the decision, rather than our making decisions
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          2  about, for example, case plans by reviewing a

          3  written record and deciding to approve or not

          4  approve, we will be in the room at the critical

          5  moment, and that's why we will still be carrying out

          6  our responsibility.  This is not an effort to

          7  privatize the system, but at the same time it's very

          8  important to be clear about responsibility here.  We

          9  are providing a lot of resources to these private

         10  agencies to do right by children and families, and

         11  we have the right to expect to hold them accountable

         12  for how long it takes a child to reach, for example,

         13  adoption.

         14                 The system we have had in the past,

         15  and this is a very specific case, for example, a

         16  youngster who has been in a home from birth, his

         17  mother is serving a life sentence in prison, his

         18  brothers and sisters by other fathers have been

         19  adopted.  He spent five years in a home with a

         20  foster parent and does not achieve adoption.  He

         21  doesn't achieve adoption, and then the foster parent

         22  wants to retire and go to another state.

         23                 We need to be involved much more

         24  frequently and much more authoritatively in those

         25  situations in which we can see the patterns because
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          2  this agency when we looked, had a pattern about

          3  this, but you couldn't see it hidden in the Equip

          4  scores.  We need to see it in the pattern, that's

          5  part of the jobs that people will carry out.  We

          6  need to see it in the case, in these family

          7  conferences.  We'll get it sooner because it's going

          8  to be every three to six months, and you need to see

          9  it in the overall comparison of results from the

         10  agency, not just on Equip scores, but on everything.

         11                 So we will hear from that foster

         12  parent, as we total up the score on this agency

         13  about the way in which they are treated and how long

         14  it takes to get an adoption moving.  That agency is

         15  no longer with us because I saw that there was this

         16  pattern.  We should be able to move more quickly and

         17  more efficiently by changing the structure of this

         18  work the way we're describing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Now, just

         20  finishing this example, so your Family Conference

         21  Facilitator is in the room, impasse, again, you're

         22  saying it may be a very small percentage of the

         23  time, but an impasse is reached.  The decision is

         24  bumped up to an executive of the private agency, and

         25  then my question is, who's watching in case that is
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          2  a wrong decision?  And how does it get from that

          3  process and that point over to you?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The

          5  facilitator is watching.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:   The same

          7  person.

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Her team of

          9  people who are working with this individual agency

         10  will be the reporting back to group, and if they are

         11  unable to get a response, they can come right up to

         12  me to deal with safety issues.  But you cannot

         13  simply set up a system, as you'll hear from private

         14  agency reps, I'm sure, in which we hold people

         15  accountable, but then the critical decision is all

         16  ours, and if it takes us two, three six months, it

         17  takes that long.  You have to make people

         18  accountable.  You have to have some kind of back

         19  stop to protect the children.  We think that this

         20  system has that.  I've seen it work, but you cannot

         21  simply say, we're going to make all the big

         22  decisions, and we'll hold you accountable.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  No one,

         24  Commissioner, is here arguing there's no such thing

         25  as any good reform, and no one is saying that
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          2  everything that has happened in the past is good

          3  because a lot of it wasn't.  We understand that, but

          4  I think we are trying to make sure that we don't

          5  take one unwieldy system and replace it with a new

          6  unwieldy system, or take one set of unintended

          7  consequences and replace it with a new set of

          8  unintended consequences.

          9                 So just to clarify, the private

         10  agency executive, the high level person you

         11  described, who is kind of the tie breaker, cannot

         12  implement that decision and act on that decision if

         13  the ACS facilitator says, wait a minute, I have a

         14  concern.  I need to take this back to the

         15  Commissioner.  Everything would freeze at that

         16  point; is that right?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  It should.

         18  It would in most cases, but not in every one.

         19  Suppose the facilitator, if you've been in these

         20  meetings, the facilitator disagrees, but does not

         21  think that it's enough of a disagreement.  She's

         22  60/40 on what we should do in this case.  She won't

         23  block consensus at that point. It's when she

         24  believes that it is serious and must be dealt with

         25  immediately that she has the authority to step in
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          2  and say that, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right.  So

          4  you can understand why a lot of us were confused

          5  from moment one on this because what you're saying,

          6  if I hear you correctly, is a decent grows in effect

          7  to the private agencies on the decisions, ACS is

          8  still in the room.  In the tie it goes to the agency

          9  exec, but if the facilitator disagrees, it's a

         10  matter of how much, because the facilitator may say,

         11  well, I'm still going to let it move forward. Or the

         12  facilitator may say, stop the presses, I need to go

         13  to the Commissioner.  So there's lots of different

         14  zigs and zags here. I'm not saying they're bad, but

         15  saying it is not --

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  There will

         17  not be zigs and zags well above nine out of ten of

         18  these situations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And I hear

         20  that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  There will

         22  not be zigs and zags.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We are

         24  obviously --

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  This is not
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          2  a complicated process.  We will be in the room for

          3  every big decision.  We are nowhere near the room

          4  now for those decisions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And our job

          6  and your job is always to think about the ones where

          7  there are the disagreements, and that's why I'm

          8  asking the questions.

          9                 Now, on the financing, I think again

         10  my question is always about unintended consequences.

         11  If we have had a per diem system in the past, and

         12  forgive my ignorance.  You can hone the response,

         13  explain the definitions if I'm missing something,

         14  but we've had a system in the past that might have

         15  been sort of broad stroke, per diem, something that

         16  may not have been as results focused, but at the

         17  same time did offer two agencies the opportunity to

         18  act as they saw professionally fit to achieve the

         19  outcomes.  When you move to a system that is "more

         20  outcome focused," there's a lot of obvious virtue in

         21  that in the first instance, but then the real valid

         22  criticism gets raised, does it start pushing people

         23  to outcomes for outcome's sake to artificial

         24  outcomes, to less sensitive outcomes? I'll use an

         25  example just because I think it makes it vivid and
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          2  clear to all of us.  Obviously, all of us are

          3  thrilled that there's less crime, and we know

          4  Compstat and the numerical measures helped achieve

          5  it, but then people say, yeah, but there's also

          6  effectively a quota system, and so cops are sort of

          7  pushed in reality, they feel pushed that they have

          8  to arrest a certain number of people, or else they

          9  won't make their quota.  And some people they have

         10  to arrest maybe it wasn't as clear as some other

         11  people.

         12                 So the point is, the minute you go to

         13  numerical measures, and again parallel to the

         14  Department of Education and some of the concerns

         15  there.  The minute you go to numerical measures and

         16  outcome measures, it starts to be a bit of slippery

         17  slope.  How do you make sure that if you move to

         18  that measure, that people don't start to find

         19  themselves creating artificial dynamics that maybe

         20  aren't what's best for kids?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.  An

         22  important issue. Two things will make this much

         23  stronger in all those areas.  First of all, we will

         24  have a trained person with experience in the room

         25  who can then track case-by-case what's going on.
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          2  However, in addition to that, we're going to have a

          3  monthly review of outcomes for every agency, so that

          4  we will be on top of the pattern, as well as on top

          5  of the specifics.  It's the linkage of those two

          6  things together that I think allows us to say this

          7  will be a much stronger monitoring system.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  But I guess

          9  I'm still -- I'm sorry, I was just consulting for a

         10  moment.  Maybe I missed something here.  I still

         11  don't understand.  Yes, you are watching, and

         12  obviously, if you saw a trend that you thought

         13  suggested that these measures had gone awry, I'm not

         14  doubting you would do something about it.  But I

         15  guess I'm trying to ask on the construction of the

         16  front end.  How do you reward thoughtfulness,

         17  carefulness, subtlety in this system?  How are you

         18  going to be training the agencies to make sure it

         19  doesn't become too numerical and too about we got to

         20  meet our bottom line, we got to meet our budget?

         21  Because you know that's always something people have

         22  to grapple with.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  A couple of

         24  things.  First, will be in the room.  You shouldn't

         25  just throw that aside. Secondly, and in many ways
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          2  more importantly, we have to have up to date

          3  tracking of what they are achieving.  An agency that

          4  starts sending kids home and then they get hurt

          5  again, will be hurt by doing that and will be held

          6  accountable the way they are not right now, except

          7  through a lengthy Equip process a year, 18 months

          8  later. So we'll be on the case, and we will also be

          9  tracking the data, and the data is just not about

         10  well, short length of stay, everything's fine.

         11                 However, also keep in mind these

         12  agencies have been working for many, many years.

         13  They're led by dedicated people. We're not holding

         14  children in care longer because they decided they

         15  wanted to make more money.  That's not what their

         16  job is.  That's not what their work is.  We need to

         17  have a system that tracks this and makes sure we can

         18  intervene in a timely fashion in the way we have not

         19  been able to.  But we also shouldn't treat our

         20  private agencies as if they were somehow

         21  profit-making organizations.  This combination

         22  allows us to give them much more flexibility but to

         23  hold them accountable for results.  That's very

         24  different from what we've had.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I understand a
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          2  lot of that rationale, and I know a lot of the

          3  people who are key to these provider organizations,

          4  and I have the same respect you do.  I assume the

          5  same good intention.  I also have heard them plead

          6  with the City Council related to the resource

          7  reality and how they're sort of in a vice

          8  economically.  I think some of what Council Member

          9  James was referring to, I think it's happening

         10  across the board with social service providers with

         11  community-based organizations.  The world is a very

         12  different place than it used to be even a few years

         13  ago and certainly a few decades ago in terms of

         14  level of support we provide to any entity doing to

         15  the public good.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  And not a

         17  better place.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Correct.  And

         19  the needs are greater, more expensive, et cetera.

         20  So, you wouldn't be a callous person if you're

         21  running one of these agencies and thinking morning,

         22  noon and night about the bottom line.  And you

         23  wouldn't be callous if you said to your staff, if

         24  the new structure rewards speed, people, we've got

         25  to be as fast as we can.  Of course, do the right

                                                            99

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  thing, do the best job you can, all that, but we've

          3  got to be mindful of speed.  I mean, it wouldn't be

          4  an unfair managerial thing to say, and that's where

          5  it gets worse.

          6                 I'm not saying, therefore, we

          7  shouldn't experiment. I'm saying, how do you, if

          8  you're taking to some extent an oversight step back,

          9  because I do think any decentralization, that's my

         10  word, but any decentralization does mean a certain

         11  amount of things have to be the judgment of the

         12  private agency.  I just worry that you don't know

         13  about the problems until the negative outcomes.  Now

         14  you said very clearly, if you see a bad pattern,

         15  people are sending kids --

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Every month.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: -- Quickly to

         18  the wrong situation, you could act on it.  But those

         19  patterns too take awhile to develop. So I'm just

         20  trying to get your checks and balances clear in my

         21  mind.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well, I've

         23  described it as best I can right now, but within

         24  that context I think it's important that you, not

         25  for me, that you listen to all sides about this
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          2  regarding the quality of the oversight that's out

          3  there now, and its ability to respond in a timely

          4  manner to kids' needs.  And compare that with what

          5  this is.  Does every system have strengths and

          6  weaknesses?  Yes.  Do we have to keep very careful

          7  mind of the weaknesses?  Yes.  This will be a

          8  fundamentally stronger system with this kind of

          9  oversight.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  All right.

         11  I'm almost finished here because we very much want

         12  to hear from our other witnesses too.

         13                 Two points, Commissioner, on the type

         14  of decision that needs more interaction with ACS and

         15  the types that would not. Again, I'm trying to

         16  understand.  I'm not sure if it was the most helpful

         17  thing for the prom dress example to be thrown out

         18  there because I'm just not sure how often that is

         19  the kind of decision that has to be made.  But that

         20  being said, what, under this new plan, would a

         21  private agency be able to decide with no check in

         22  with anyone from ACS, and what would it not?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Well,

         24  suppose a child, a youngster is suspended from

         25  school.  That requires a family conference.  It
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          2  doesn't require ACS attendance at that family

          3  conference, but if the decision is being made to

          4  return that child home and go into court and ask for

          5  approval to do that, ACS has to be there.  Those are

          6  the kinds of distinctions that we want to make.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And are you

          8  going to be able to provide us, because we don't

          9  want to belabor the point too much here, but we

         10  would like to follow up in writing with you.  Can

         11  you provide us, in your initial vision now, a chart

         12  or a delineation of what are the decisions that are

         13  within the agency's own purview and which are not?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Sure.

         15  Definitely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Finally, on my

         17  part, and then I know Tish has one last question.  I

         18  think you said there's 90 provisional workers who

         19  don't have a place in this plan.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:

         21  Approximately, yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Again, we care

         23  about every single employee of the City, provisional

         24  or otherwise. We care. They're our constituents.

         25  They're families.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  We're supposed

          4  to be serving them too and helping them in every way

          5  we can.  Presuming, of course, everyone is doing

          6  their job, too.

          7                 What plan is there to try and find

          8  some opportunities for those folks?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  All of these

         10  options that we've talked about before will be

         11  available to them.  We just have to get in gear as

         12  quickly as we can about this because now we're

         13  talking about, let's say, July 1, 2007, and we

         14  intend to do exactly that with the union's help.

         15  They have no particular permanency rights, because

         16  they're provisional, but they are families, and we

         17  intend to see to it that they land on their feet

         18  with us, if possible, and with the City otherwise.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  But in terms

         20  of both, I just want to make sure I'm getting this

         21  one piece right.  Totally separately we've talked

         22  about the child protective workers repeatedly.

         23  We've talked about attrition problems.  We've talked

         24  about the difficulty of the work, and you've made

         25  clear that you have to keep your hiring levels quite
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          2  high to keep up with both the problems in the

          3  community and the turnover situation.  We talked

          4  about that at the budget hearing.  Everyone in this

          5  equation, whether permanent worker or provisional,

          6  will be looked at for CPS opportunities?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay.  I'm

          9  going to turn to Council Member James, and Council

         10  Member, we're waiting to hear from President Ensley

         11  and some of the providers.  We only have a short

         12  time left in this room, but I'm going to turn to you

         13  before we say thank you to the Commissioner.  Go

         14  ahead, Council Member.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner,

         16  you talked a little bit about outcomes, and

         17  apparently this reorganization plan is going to

         18  focus more on outcomes.  So I have always been of

         19  the opinion that we should focus on outcomes from

         20  the front, as opposed to the back end, so the

         21  question is, what are we doing with respect to

         22  permanency planning, more efforts in regards to

         23  kinship, reunification, and more programs with

         24  respect to diverting children from foster care?

         25  This, again, focuses primarily on the back end as
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          2  opposed to the front end, and I think that's where

          3  the focus should be, and I believe agencies play a

          4  role with respect to prevention, but I truly have a

          5  serious issue with respect to agencies playing a

          6  greater role in the decisions of children.

          7                 And let me also say that I remember

          8  that at one point in time there was this notion that

          9  there was a financial incentive so that these

         10  agencies can keep children languishing in the child

         11  welfare system, and now we appear to be going again

         12  reversing the current plans.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes, we

         14  haven't had a chance to talk about it enough today,

         15  but we also, as part of this plan, we intend to

         16  strengthen our oversight of all the preventative

         17  agencies' work.  We will be making staff available,

         18  new family service workers, for example, whom we've

         19  talked about at the budget hearings.  We will be

         20  making facilitators available for critical family

         21  conferences with preventive agencies.  Up to now, we

         22  have handed off too many cases to a preventive

         23  agency and moved on and closed our case.

         24                 We will have in place a system where

         25  we will conference with a preventive agency and the
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          2  family, and if, for some reason, the family is still

          3  in a position where the preventive agency is worried

          4  about their ability or willingness to protect their

          5  children, they will have access to another one of

          6  these conferences, so we can decide should we go to

          7  court for supervision, or what should we do to try

          8  to make this service work better.

          9                 We intend with this new program to

         10  heighten our ability to oversee the work of the

         11  preventive agencies much more than we have been able

         12  to do now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Commissioner,

         14  I can recall having a meeting with you maybe two

         15  years ago where we were thinking about closing some

         16  agencies, and, in fact, you have closed some

         17  agencies.  We were focusing on agencies that were

         18  not very effective.  To what extent have we closed

         19  some of these agencies that we now want to fund?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'm sorry,

         21  I'm not sure I completely understand, but we have --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Well, me just

         23  recite it. Some agencies are not very good.  They're

         24  not very effective, and, in fact, they represent

         25  child welfare agencies, private agencies that
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          2  perhaps may be funded as a result of this

          3  reorganization, and they in the past have been

          4  ineffective based on your scoring system.  So to

          5  what extent are we going to again focus on agencies

          6  that have not scored well as a result of your

          7  system?  Are there going to be any safeguards in the

          8  process, so that we do not give funds to those

          9  organizations that have not been very effective?

         10  And will you consider the possibility of hiring

         11  additional workers?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Yes, we

         13  would consider that at any time, as we've proven, I

         14  think, in the last year since we've hired well over

         15  500 new workers.  In terms of the broader question,

         16  we have a long list of the agencies and how they

         17  have scored with Equip.  That's an important scoring

         18  mechanism.  It's not the only one.  There are

         19  agencies who have trouble in particular areas that

         20  is very serious, and we've closed some of those

         21  agencies, even though their score may not have been

         22  the lowest possible.

         23                 On the other hand, there are also

         24  agencies who have scored low for various reasons but

         25  are very, very good at some of their work, like
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          2  placing children with relatives.  Those agencies we

          3  want to draw into this process but be more engaged

          4  with them regularly to see to it that their

          5  weaknesses are strengthened.

          6                 Agencies that aren't doing their job

          7  will not continue to work with us.  I've I think

          8  made that clear to everyone by how we have acted in

          9  the two and a half, three years.  On the other hand,

         10  agencies that are improving and want to strengthen

         11  their work, we will be more available to help with

         12  this new plan.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And my last

         14  question is, are you going to consider or have you

         15  given consideration since you've been here to

         16  changing your absolute language with respect to

         17  requiring an MSW?

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Requiring?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  An MSW.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I will

         21  certainly give it careful consideration, and I'm

         22  open to doing that and open to more conversations,

         23  of course.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,
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          2  Council Member. I'm sorry, Commissioner, I do have

          3  one final question.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Oh, I knew

          5  it was coming.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Yeah, it's

          7  tough out there. Commissioner, I'm finally getting

          8  my mind around what a Family Conference Facilitator

          9  would be in this new plan.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'd like to

         11  invite you to attend some.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You have an

         13  MSW?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'd be

         15  honored.  I really would.  No, I'm not allowed to be

         16  there.  I don't have an MSW.  But in America, Tish,

         17  even when you don't, you can get ahead.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: If you have the

         19  experience.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO: So with a

         21  single family situation, will it be required, will

         22  it be preferable, you name the word that one family

         23  conference facilitator stays with that family's case

         24  throughout?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  Preferable.
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          2  Won't always happen because of people will be sick,

          3  whatever, but absolutely preferable.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Yes, and

          5  people may resign, people may have other jobs,

          6  whatever, but I'm saying, will it be --

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  The norm,

          8  yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  The norm,

         10  okay.  That's helpful to know.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  That way,

         12  then we'll know the history without just simply

         13  trying to catch up from the record.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Okay.

         15                 Commissioner, we appreciate your

         16  testimony.  Obviously, there are a number of

         17  answers, more detail we'd like going forward.  I'm

         18  sure we'll be talking about this issue again at our

         19  May budget hearing.  We urge you to do everything

         20  you can to act on the concerns that have been raised

         21  today, and thank you for your testimony.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY:  I'll do my

         23  best.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

         25                 We would now like to call up
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          2  President Charles Ensley at Local 371 and some of

          3  his colleagues.  While President Ensley and his team

          4  is coming forward, just note for the record that we

          5  are having read into the record testimony from the

          6  Association of Black Social Workers.

          7                 President Ensley, would you begin,

          8  and then anyone else who is going to testify, if

          9  they would just introduce themselves at the

         10  beginning of their testimony, it would be very

         11  helpful.  We welcome you.

         12                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Yes, we'll

         13  introduce the people at the table, two of which will

         14  testify, but one might, in fact, help me out in a

         15  question you ask me.

         16                 My name is Charles Ensley.  I'm the

         17  President of the Social Services Employees Union,

         18  Local 371.

         19                 MS. MOORE:  I'm Faye Moore.  I'm the

         20  Vice-President of Grievances and Legal Services for

         21  Local 371.

         22                 MS. SABINA:  I'm Sabina Sabina.  I'm

         23  a child welfare specialist at ACS.

         24                 MR. CASNER:  Mark Casner, ACS child

         25  welfare specialist supervisor, level two.
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          2                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  All right.  Thank

          3  you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to address

          4  the General Welfare Committee.  Sitting here, I was

          5  reminiscing about the many times I've had to sit in

          6  the same chair asking this Committee's help in

          7  helping to stop initiatives and first ECW, secondly,

          8  SSC, then CWA and now ACS, as they change their

          9  names to try to hide who they really are.

         10                 I do know the niceties of this

         11  setting, and I want to apologize for my outbreak

         12  there, but you know, I'm unaccustomed to people

         13  lying on me publicly when I'm in the room.  I want

         14  to make absolutely clear that this ACS management,

         15  this Commissioner and his staff has refused to

         16  negotiate impact of this reorganization with this

         17  union.  We had one meeting with this Commissioner

         18  when he presented this reorganization as a fait

         19  accompli.  The meeting did not go well because the

         20  calmer he became, the angrier I became. In fact,

         21  that process was happening today.

         22                 This Commissioner is becoming a

         23  serial apologist. This Commissioner does not always

         24  tell the truth.  He may negotiate to you and your

         25  Committee and the press and the public, but he's not
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          2  going to negotiate to this union by not telling the

          3  truth.

          4                 Having said that and gotten that off

          5  my chest in a fairly dignified manner, I hope, I

          6  would like to read from my prepared remarks because

          7  obviously, I am angry.

          8                 I represent 18,000 City social

          9  service workers.  I'm here today to let you know

         10  about that anger.  I'm angry at the callous

         11  disregard this Administration has shown for

         12  dedicated and experienced workforce.  I'm angry that

         13  this Commissioner has thrust a plan upon us sharing

         14  it secretly with the press that will lay off 650

         15  child welfare workers, many of whom have Master's of

         16  Social Work degrees, all of whom have experience in

         17  the field.

         18                 This plan was announced without any

         19  discussions or negotiations with this union.  This

         20  union has been through many reorganizations,

         21  practically one per Mayor.  There has not been a

         22  single reorganization where the City did not

         23  negotiate prior to the implementation of their plan.

         24    And such negotiations always resulted in a better

         25  plan.  Most of the union leadership has had
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          2  experience in child welfare, and in reorganization

          3  we have three officers of our Local who are, in

          4  fact, certified social workers, MSW, licensed to

          5  practice, as it were.

          6                 Never has the Administration treated

          7  this union in this way.  And let me add, they have

          8  added insult to injury because these lay offs are

          9  not, as you well know, driven by any fiscal

         10  consideration.  Let me be clear.  We take issue with

         11  both the content of this plan and the manner in

         12  which it is being done.  I see the Commissioner has

         13  become a serial apologist.  He negotiated with

         14  himself to come up with this plan deliberately.  He

         15  has been working on this plan for over a year.  They

         16  got the Pataki Administration's head of the

         17  Department of Social Services to waive whatever they

         18  needed to be waived to implement the plan.  So this

         19  is nothing new.  And this was just not a mistake

         20  that he didn't share with you and the union and the

         21  other social work community. He deliberately did not

         22  share with you and me and that social worker

         23  community.

         24                 The current system of case

         25  management, for which this Commissioner has such
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          2  contempt, is that one that he helped create and

          3  administer.  If it is too bureaucratic, too paper

          4  heavy, too removed from families and children, who

          5  do you think is to blame for that?  He has the

          6  authority to rectify it without dumping 650 people

          7  on the street.

          8                 We have always offered to sit down

          9  and make things better.  Prior to the Nixzmary Brown

         10  case, our workers were attending conferences, our

         11  workers in this part of the agency. They were

         12  attending agency conferences.  They were seeing

         13  families. That was the original structure of the job

         14  intended them to do. The union has consistently

         15  complained about the paper work, complaints which

         16  have fallen on deaf ears.  It is totally

         17  disingenuous for this Commissioner now to describe

         18  our workers as paper pushers when it is he who has

         19  created the problem.  All of our workers know how to

         20  work with children and families, that is their job

         21  and is one that they have done in the past before

         22  these changes and rules and understaffing have

         23  restricted their activities.

         24                 Under the reorganization, case

         25  management would be transferred primarily to the
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          2  private agencies.  You heard him say so himself.

          3  Primarily transferred to the private agencies with

          4  oversight by technical people or performance

          5  monitors reviewing computer reports.  We fail to see

          6  how even social workers or the provider agencies

          7  could appreciate their work being reviewed primarily

          8  by technocrats with no child welfare experience.  We

          9  feel this is a total abdication of the

         10  responsibility on the part of the City and this

         11  Commissioner, which is legally responsible for the

         12  care of abused, neglected children who are placed in

         13  foster care.

         14                 Although the plan would have a 150 or

         15  so social workers, the agency fails to indicate how

         16  150 social workers can do what 650 workers can do.

         17                 From looking at the proposal, it also

         18  seems that the requirement for the new social work

         19  positions seem deliberately fashioned to exclude

         20  current employees, 250 of whom do in fact hold

         21  Master's of Social Work degrees.  All of the titles

         22  are skewed in that manner.  They have very little

         23  knowledge of State civil service law.  They said

         24  they have spoken to DCAS.  Well, if they had, DCAS

         25  would have told them that a social work staff
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          2  analyst does not require a Master's degree, which

          3  they claim on a recruitment flyer.  If they had

          4  spoken to DCAS, I'm sure DCAS would have told them

          5  that a PAA1 does not require a bachelor's degree.  I

          6  could go on and on.

          7                 I don't know what the internal

          8  discussions have been with the Labor Commissioner,

          9  or DCAS or anyone else.  But I do know the impact of

         10  this reorganization, which was shared with no one, I

         11  do know the impact it potentially has on us.

         12                 There are many, many questions about

         13  how this plan would work.  You have asked many of

         14  them today.  While the final goal of better services

         15  to children and families are shared by all of us, we

         16  know the devil is in the detail.  While we are

         17  always willing to sit down and discuss how to make

         18  things better, we will not allow 650 workers who

         19  have dedicated their careers to this agency to

         20  summarily be thrown out of their jobs by this

         21  Commissioner whose tenure is limited.  He'll be gone

         22  in two years. We're not going to permit that.

         23                 I have two workers with me who can

         24  talk in a quieter and more professional tone about

         25  the content of the work that they do.  But before I
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          2  turn the mike over to them, I would just simply say

          3  that they have met with us once, this Commissioner,

          4  under the Labor Commissioner's recommendation due

          5  the anger and my reaction to the Commissioner's

          6  presentation, suggested that our staffs meet on a

          7  technical basis, so that we could understand the

          8  plan better. The first meeting was held, and they

          9  did not bring the appropriate staff to answer not

         10  one union question.  We met with them a second time

         11   -- by the way, on the first occasion they took the

         12  occasion to inform us that 97 of our workers, the

         13  provisionals, will be mailed layoff notices on April

         14  14.   Layoff notices.  No mention of finding them

         15  jobs.  The statement was that on April 14, 97 people

         16  would receive layoff notices from this agency.

         17                 We met with them a second time on a

         18  technical level, not to negotiate impact, and they

         19  were still unable to answer many of our questions.

         20  If this Commissioner, and I have requested him,

         21  would do what every Commissioner, every Mayor prior

         22  to this current Mayor and current Commissioner were

         23  willing to do, suspend implementation of this

         24  proposal until they sit down and negotiate the

         25  impact with the workers' duly elected
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          2  representatives, their union, then we would not have

          3  the problems we are having today.

          4                 We are clearly on a collision course

          5  with them because all power has limits.  Council

          6  Member James asked about violation of law, she's

          7  right, violation of collective bargaining

          8  agreements, she's right.  Someone suggested to me

          9  that perhaps they tried to clear me out by talking

         10  to people in the union movement that I might be

         11  affiliated with.  Well, let me share with them and

         12  you publicly that nobody is elected to represent the

         13  18,000 members of the Social Service Employees Union

         14  but this President Charles Ensley, and, with that, I

         15  would like to introduce you to a worker from the

         16  office of Contract Agency Case Management, who is

         17  currently enrolled in Columbia University to --

         18  you're working on a master's in social work degree,

         19  right?  Her name is Sabina Sabina, and if she can

         20  kind of address her experience with the agency now,

         21  that would be more than helpful.  Sabina.

         22                 MS. SABINA:  Good afternoon,

         23  Committee Chair, Bill DeBlasio and Committee

         24  Members.  My name is Sabina Sabina, and I am a Child

         25  Welfare Specialist.  I have been with ACS for almost
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          2  seven years now.  I'm currently enrolled in Columbia

          3  School of Social Work in a Master's Degree Program

          4  and almost finished 30 credits. Before the Nixzmary

          5  Brown case, I would like to let the Chair know that

          6  we were visiting the agency.  We had very close

          7  contacts with families and children.  The

          8  conferences that he is talking about that with the

          9  MSW, we were already doing that on a regular basis.

         10  It was stopped after Nixzmary Brown.  We were

         11  meeting for service plan reviews where all the

         12  initial problems that the agency had, or the parents

         13  had, or the foster parents had, or children had were

         14  brought to our attention, and we were resolving it,

         15  and if we could not resolve it, we used to bring it

         16  back to the APA level, which was directly under

         17  Commissioners.

         18                 So these meetings were done as case

         19  conferences.  We had done trial discharge

         20  conferences, final discharge conferences. We

         21  completed all mandated state and agency required

         22  paperwork and had caseloads as high as over 100,

         23  averaging 200 children.  We assured that contract

         24  agencies followed state and federal mandates such as

         25  ASFA, Adoption State Family Act, and service plan
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          2  reviews.

          3                 We used to make sure that agencies

          4  were inviting parents, which they usually neglected

          5  to, for service plan reviews. Assured that contract

          6  agencies did due diligence findings for AWOL

          7  children, finding parents and finding resources for

          8  the child. Also, workers approved home visits.  It

          9  was not just for red tape because we had to make

         10  sure that the homes were safe.  At trial final

         11  discharges we used to approve, and delays were

         12  usually caused by the agency by not providing us the

         13  required documents that ACS requires, making sure

         14  the homes are cleared, everybody has been cleared by

         15  the state.  These were the requirements for us to do

         16  the approvals for final discharges and trial

         17  discharges and home visits.

         18                 We were in many cases the last line

         19  of defense for vulnerable children in foster care.

         20  Since the Nixzmary Brown case, we have minimum

         21  family contact, no longer do service plan reviews.

         22  We are going to court only when we are subpoenaed.

         23  Mainly, we just do approvals for FAS, which was

         24  previously called UCR's, and are pressured to

         25  actually approve those FAS by the management.
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          2                 Our work is very important.  For one

          3  to expect an agency to be able to monitor itself is

          4  same as expecting the Executive Branch of Government

          5  to be able to monitor itself.  Why then does the

          6  Mayor and Commissioner believe that our knowledge

          7  does not apply and with local foster care agencies?

          8                 In my experience there have been

          9  instances where private agencies have not made good

         10  decisions for children in foster care.  Sometimes

         11  the agency tried to terminate parental rights of

         12  birth parents simply because the worker disliked the

         13  parents or favored the foster parents.  That is why

         14  it is important to have review of these critical

         15  decisions.  There have been instances where the

         16  agency did not visit foster children when they were

         17  hospitals, or do not do the follow-up of afterborn

         18  children who are in care.  Residential treatment

         19  centers have neglected to provide services to the

         20  birth families.  At times they have denied children

         21  food in group homes that we have discovered.  There

         22  has been problems that agencies have denied the baby

         23  formula to the teen mothers in mother-child

         24  placement.  They also denied transportation for

         25  child to go to the court hearing.  On other
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          2  occasions two children were dropped off at YMCA

          3  because they were troubled children.  One staff

          4  member assaulted the child in agency and agency

          5  tried to cover up.

          6                 We used to be able to address these

          7  issues of non-compliant agencies, talk with

          8  executive directors of the agency and disapprove

          9  FAS.  However, it was this very same Commissioner

         10  who slowly and systematically stripped us of each of

         11  our powers.  It seemed like they want to simply

         12  privatize ACS.  We have done this job in the past,

         13  and we feel that even if the changes are made, we

         14  are fully capable of continuing to do this job.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Let me just

         17  say, Ms. Sabina, we'd appreciate a copy of your

         18  testimony.  Any written testimony we'd appreciate a

         19  copy of.

         20                 MR. CASNER:  Good afternoon, my name

         21  is Mark Casner I'm a Sup. Two at the ACS.  I do

         22  intend to be brief.  I am watching the clock.

         23                 I've been working in the agency since

         24  1989.  I've been a Sup. Two for seven years in the

         25  Office of Case Management. I presently supervise two
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          2  teams with a total of 12 staff members. I was

          3  transferred to the Office of Case Management in 1995

          4  where I was put in the position of Team Supervisor

          5  in a Home Rebuilders Team.

          6                 The main feature of that was there

          7  was a physical presence by the case managers at the

          8  service plan reviews that were taking place twice a

          9  year.  Since then, continually, the agency has been

         10  doing service plan reviews, first under the Home

         11  Rebuilders Program, and then later as it expanded,

         12  in about 1996 through field-based review.  Somewhat

         13  later, Deputy Commissioner Lisa Parish was very

         14  interested in 100 percent attendance in two of the

         15  service plan reviews that were conducted twice per

         16  year at that point on site at the contract agencies,

         17  with the families.

         18                 I'm trying to make the point that

         19  we've been doing family-based conferences for at

         20  least 12 years.  Now we're looking at a plan that

         21  appears to have been presented without due process

         22  with the union.  Thank you very much. That's it.

         23                 MR. ENSLEY:  Mr. Casner, I just have

         24  one comment.

         25                 MR. CASNER:  Yes.  Indeed.
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          2                 MR. ENSLEY:  This union has always

          3  prided itself on being a union of professionals.

          4  We've never been obstructionists. We're never

          5  opposed to change.  We have a healthy relationship

          6  with our counterparts in the private sector, not

          7  only the counterparts in the private sector, but the

          8  advocacy groups.  I just want to say for emphasis

          9  again, all members of the traditional social work

         10  community was excluded from the development process

         11  that developed this plan.  Again, we come to you

         12  asking assistance.  The first time I came to this

         13  committee I was considerably younger and thinner and

         14  with darker hair, as Sam Horwitz was the Chair.  He

         15  came from Brooklyn too.  Sam was very, very helpful,

         16  and we come in that spirit today.  We are willing to

         17  go forward and cooperate, but they must negotiate

         18  prior to implementation.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well, Mr.

         20  President let me say at the outset, I appreciate

         21  everything about your testimony, but the reason I

         22  appreciate it so much is I've had the honor of

         23  working with you now for several years, and I want

         24  to make really clear to everyone that there is no

         25  question in my mind that you think first about the
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          2  people we're serving.  You're a fine Labor leader,

          3  but I think your also someone who has done this work

          4  and been an expert on the issues of protecting and

          5  serving children.

          6                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  That's front

          8  and center your concern, right up there with, of

          9  course, the needs of the workers. So I've never

         10  heard you in public or private conversation talk

         11  about anything narrowly as, I'm only concerned about

         12  the impact on my union or my workers.  It's always

         13  been the big picture with you. That's why the whole

         14  process is even more quizzical to me.  If you had

         15  been someone who just couldn't have cared less about

         16  policy, or about children,  well, someone could say,

         17  Well, why should we go talk to Ensley?  But you've

         18  distinguished yourself for literally decades as

         19  being someone who thought about the substance and

         20  cared about what we were doing to serve people.  My

         21  question here is, put aside this immediate

         22  reorganization.  Let's talk about the bigger effort

         23  to do better by children and families.

         24                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  It would seem
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          2  to me the natural thing to do would be to get in a

          3  room, workers and their representative unions

          4  obviously, the advocates who represent families,

          5  advocates who represent children, the whole range of

          6  stakeholders and have a regular dialogue.  How do we

          7  make things better?  Everyone might have to be

          8  creative.  Everyone might have to sacrifice a

          9  little, compromise a little.  But how do we

         10  constantly make things better?  Something that

         11  afflicts everyone for example is the problem in

         12  family court.  That backlog and the chaos that we

         13  have in family court is not helping anyone, from the

         14  judges on down to the kids.  How do we work together

         15  to solve that? How do we continue to make ACS as

         16  effective an agency as it can be? How do we provide

         17  the right kind of oversight of families, et cetera?

         18  Do you feel that you've had that kind of running

         19  dialogue over these last few years?

         20                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Interestingly

         21  enough, this union had agreed to deal with members

         22  of the Mattingly Administration in an ongoing

         23  dialogue to improve the agency and to improve labor

         24  management relations, to be honest about it.  I

         25  recall a previous Mayor, his name is Giuliani.  I
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          2  think he's running for President. He put me on a

          3  committee with child welfare experts when we first

          4  looked at how to make it better.  The committee was

          5  led by Howard Wilson.  We came up with what is

          6  clearly true even now.  If you really are committed

          7  to improving child welfare services, you're going to

          8  pay people more, so hopefully they are going to stay

          9  a little longer.  You're going to provide more

         10  training.  You create a professional atmosphere,

         11  then you pray.  Then you pray.  That's what most

         12  experts in the field think about their service.

         13                 While we were meeting with the agency

         14  trying to make it make it better, trying to improve

         15  labor management relations, apparently they were

         16  secretly developing a plan that was going to end up

         17  with 650 of my workers being on the street.  So when

         18  the Commissioner, I give you the date, I will never

         19  forget the date on March 20 deemed it appropriate to

         20  share with the union his plan, between banging on

         21  the desk and trying to control my use of profanity,

         22  I finally told my staff, quit meeting with him.  Why

         23  are we meeting with him when behind our backs,

         24  they're planing to rip off 650 of our jobs?  So

         25  since that point, relations have been quite chilly
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          2  between the Commissioner and myself.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  But I guess

          4  the question I was asking, I think you answered part

          5  of it --

          6                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Yes we would be

          7  willing --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I'm also

          9  asking so we're all clear again on the substance

         10  here.  If you were in a partnership with anyone on

         11  any topic, you would think that means regular

         12  dialogue, comparing notes looking at each other's

         13  perspectives, figuring out how we can make thing

         14  work for everyone, talk about changes needed, do you

         15  feel that's been the dialogue? I'm not talking about

         16  this one proposal.  I'm saying over years, has that

         17  been what you've experienced for these last few

         18  years?

         19                 MR. ENSLEY:  Certainly not.  This

         20  union -- again, we're proud of ourselves on our

         21  professionalism.  Many people in ACS management I

         22  have great respect for.  In fact, I have great

         23  respect for the role that the Commissioner has.

         24  Rather than risk getting them tainted by my

         25  admiration of them, I would just simply say there

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  are some professionals in that Administration.  This

          3  union has a solid relationship with some people in

          4  ACS management, but there's no structured ongoing

          5  dialogue where we talk about the quality of the

          6  service.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  And the last

          8  thing, I know Council Member Brewer has a question.

          9  My last question in this vein, when you look at the

         10  question of the experience levels of the current

         11  workers, and I'd be the first to say, again, not

         12  every worker fits every role, but I thought I heard

         13  the Commissioner after a lot of pummeling, finally

         14  say something at the end there that sounded a little

         15  bit like they would reevaluate whether MSW was the

         16  Holy Grail, or whether other things might be taken

         17  into account, whether there should be a more

         18  flexible definition.

         19                 I don't mean to get into your labor

         20  relations issue or anything like that.  I'm just

         21  making a statement of goal here. Do you think it's

         22  the right direction to say that we need to look at

         23  the talents and experience of the current workers

         24  and figure out how best to utilize them in a new

         25  structure rather than starting from an abstract job
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          2  description and working backwards?

          3                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Obviously, I agree

          4  with that, and I also agree with Council Member

          5  James, and I think it was Barron's position that we

          6  stop.  That we look at it again, which is simply all

          7  that I've asked them to do.  We recognize managerial

          8  prerogatives.  We certainly understand that they

          9  have the right to reorganize their agency.  I've

         10  told this Commissioner, as I've told every

         11  Commissioner, I don't want to manage ACS.  I do not

         12  intend to interfere with their managerial

         13  prerogatives.  But my responsibility, as they

         14  implement their prerogatives, that they do not

         15  trample on the rights of City employees that I

         16  represent.  That I am not going permit.  That is

         17  what they are doing now, and I'm not going to permit

         18  it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

         20  Now, I know Council Member Brewer has a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you for

         22  the incredibly wonderful workers.  My question is,

         23  when the Commissioner was talking, I could not

         24  understand, and I think you confirmed this, what's

         25  so very complicated about putting together family
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          2  meetings? Obviously, you do that all the time.

          3                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So I'm just

          5  wondering what am I missing here?

          6                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  What you're

          7  missing, I think, is that this Commissioner, in

          8  spite of him saying, here, that is it is unfair that

          9  I will characterize our workers as not doing a good

         10  job, it's clear to us that his position represents a

         11  betrayal of his own work force.  That he is not

         12  supportive of his workforce. That he does not

         13  appreciate his workforce, and he is determined to

         14  change the workforce.

         15                 This union is prepared to talk to him

         16  about any issue.  We have social workers in our

         17  leadership from this agency. We have a Vice-

         18  President who, in fact, is a supervisor of Child

         19  Welfare Services.  We are not just some union jacks

         20  trying to protect a job or two.  We stand second to

         21  nobody when it comes to caring about the children.

         22  We're the ones who told the world about BCW, I think

         23  at the time, keeping well babies in hospitals here.

         24  We're the ones who broke the story in the press

         25  about this agency having children come in and out of
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          2  the filled offices every day of the week, sleeping

          3  on desks.  We care about these children and

          4  families.  Certainly, we've demonstrated we care

          5  certainly as much as they do.

          6                 So the issue remains, Council Member,

          7  and I think you understand that we feel betrayed.

          8  We feel betrayed.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you,

         11  Council Member. Council Member Tish James.

         12                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  That was Tish,

         13  Council Member, Tish James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   Tish.

         15  Everyone calls me Tish.

         16                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Oh, Letitia James.

         17  Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Mr. Ensley,

         19  I'm glad you've maintained your professionalism, and

         20  you've been constrained in your comments, and I was

         21  kind of good today too.  I was in control. You know

         22  how much I get a little beside myself.

         23                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Sure, absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:   I know this

         25  is a ministry for you.  This is your life work.  I
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          2  respect that passion.  There's nothing wrong with

          3  having passion.  So April 14, what can we do to

          4  protect these 97 provisionals?  April 14, excuse me.

          5                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  If I heard the

          6  Commissioner's response to the Chair's question

          7  about what would happen on the 14th, I thought I

          8  heard a commitment that he was willing to work with

          9  the union to find them jobs.  If that's true, that

         10  is really pleasant news, and I thank you for

         11  soliciting that information.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  He said that,

         13  but we still didn't get a commitment, so I'm still

         14  concerned.

         15                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Right.  Certainly

         16  I'm concerned too.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I join with

         18  the Chair in working with you to ensure that 97

         19  individuals are not laid off as of April 14.  Again,

         20  I can't re- emphasize the fact that we're sitting on

         21  a $4 billion surplus.

         22                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Sure, absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Let me say

         24  that again, a $4 billion surplus.  Let me just also

         25  say, full disclosure.  Ms. Moore lives in my
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          2  district, but I did not have a conversation with

          3  her. She did not e- mail me, did not talk about

          4  this.  I just decided. I read about this in the

          5  newspaper and was very much concerned about it.  So,

          6  Mr. Ensley, you indicated that this was a plan that

          7  was hatched between the Commissioner and Pataki.

          8  Can Governor Spitzer undo it?

          9                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  I'm sure he can.

         10  In fact, in the interest of being fully candid, also

         11  I have requested friends of mine who work in Albany

         12  in the political arena to try to approach the

         13  Governor in an attempt to stop it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.  And,

         15  again, whatever this City Council Person can do.

         16                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Absolutely, thank

         17  you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  I'm certain

         19  that I speak on behalf of the Chair and Council

         20  Member Brewer, whatever we can do to assist you,

         21  we're there for you.

         22                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  My other

         24  question is collective bargaining.  How is this a

         25  violation of your collective bargaining agreement?
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          2  It appears that this is a clear violation, but

          3  perhaps you can advise me.

          4                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Yes, they are

          5  absolutely obligated under the collective bargaining

          6  laws to negotiate impact of any reorganization plan

          7  that they might come up with.  They have

          8  consistently refused to do so.  They have continued

          9  to go forward with the implementation of their plan

         10  without negotiating with this union.  That's why I

         11  reacted so to the Commissioner's statement that he

         12  has met with this union and will continue to meet

         13  with this union.  It's just not true.  I'm not going

         14  to permit him to mislead you in that fashion.

         15                 Every reorganization that has been

         16  presented to us in the past whether it was by

         17  Scoppetta and Giuliani or the Koch and Brezhnev

         18  (sic), we have always sat down and negotiated impact

         19  prior to any implementation.  Never in my 25 year

         20  history as the President of this Union been

         21  presented a plan that has not been vetting by any

         22  professional at the last minute and tell me that I

         23  must accept it, that it's a finished document and

         24  they'll proceed with implementation.   That's where

         25  the anger comes from.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  No, I

          3  understand.  The backlog in adoptions and permanency

          4  planning.  Family court, as we all know, is

          5  dysfunctional.  We all know that foster parents only

          6  communicate with foster agencies.  We know that

          7  there is a lack of services for parents and for

          8  children.  We know that there are no resources again

          9  to prevent homelessness and provide services to

         10  families that desperately need it.  So we recognize

         11  that there's some challenges in the system, and so I

         12  don't know whether or not reorganization is the

         13  answer.  It suggests to me that we analyze the

         14  system and we provide more resources to families who

         15  need it, particularly at a time when we have, again,

         16  a $4 billion surplus.

         17                 My last question, Mr. Ensley, it's my

         18  understanding someone just passed me a note, and I

         19  was totally unaware of it, and perhaps you can shed

         20  some light on this and some clarification. The

         21  requirement for these new jobs is a master's degree

         22  with three years of clinical experience, and if that

         23  is the case, then how would that impact on your

         24  current work force?

         25                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  I am at this point
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          2  unsure what they are looking for.  They have one

          3  document asking for a master's degree and clinical

          4  experience.  I've seen another document where

          5  they've asked for an MSW degree and either case

          6  work, group work. I'm unsure at this point, and that

          7  is one of the problems that occur when you don't

          8  talk to each other.  I will say that as they fashion

          9  the PAA job asking for a bachelor's degree, and the

         10  Associate Analyst job asking for a Master's degree,

         11  it does put the antenna up in terms of whether they

         12  are fashioning jobs that our incumbent work force

         13  will have the credentials to fill.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  My last point

         15  is that I received an e- mail from a constituent who

         16  works for the union or who is a member of the union,

         17  and she basically, I guess, put it best.  She

         18  basically said that ACS is blaming workers for our

         19  agency's inability to improve outcomes and actually

         20  it's poor leadership that has always been the cause.

         21    Workers are doing our jobs, but for all of these

         22  years ACS leadership has refused to close programs

         23  that were ineffective and/or higher enough ACS

         24  workers properly to do our jobs.  Thank you.

         25                 PRESIDENT ENSLEY:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you.

          3  Thank you, President Ensley and your whole team.  We

          4  appreciate you being here, and we look forward in

          5  working together with you to hopefully resolve these

          6  issues going forward.  Thank you very much for your

          7  testimony.

          8                 Finally, we have one more panel and,

          9  unfortunately, we have only 11 minutes left in the

         10  room before we have to give it up, so we'll try and

         11  stick as close to that as humanly possible. I want

         12  to be very honest with anyone who's here for public

         13  testimony.  There will not be time for public

         14  testimony.  My apology.  We only have time for the

         15  final panel.

         16                 Jim Purcell of Council of Family and

         17  Child Caring Agencies, Stephanie Gendell of

         18  Citizens' Committee for Children, and Dr. Jeremy

         19  Kohomban of Children's Village.  Please step

         20  forward.  Everyone please, if you're exiting the

         21  room, please do so quietly cause we do have to

         22  finish this hearing expeditiously.

         23                 I want to welcome this panel.  We've

         24  had the opportunity to work with all of you before

         25  and appreciate your good work.  Who would like to
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          2  start amongst the panel members?  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Purcell go ahead.

          4                 MR. PURCELL:  Hello.  Ny name is Jim

          5  Purcell.  I'm the Executive Director of the Council

          6  of Family and Child Caring Agencies.  We represent

          7  over 90 percent of the not- for- profit agencies

          8  that provide foster care and preventive services.

          9  We appreciate the opportunity to speak with you

         10  today.

         11                 Based on the plan as we've now seen

         12  it over the last week, we want to start by saying

         13  that we will strongly support any changes that will

         14  improve our ability to better serve children and

         15  families and to ensure safety, well being and

         16  permanency.  We find many components of the ACS plan

         17  which we think will do that.  There are, of course,

         18  many details to be worked out, some of which have

         19  been addressed today, and we look forward to working

         20  with ACS and the other stakeholders in doing so.

         21                 Let me focus first on some of the

         22  good things we see in this plan.  I'll just

         23  summarize my testimony in the interest of time.

         24  First, while we have some experience with family

         25  conferencing, we've talked to colleagues around the
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          2  country who find it to be a powerful tool for

          3  bringing families together with their kids with all

          4  the people involved in the decision making process

          5  in moving together towards a solution to the

          6  family's problems.

          7                 Second, we find an opportunity for

          8  the ACS workers to be on site with our staff, with

          9  the kids and families, with the foster parents, and

         10  with other people in the community who are important

         11  to the family to be a big improvement.  I think that

         12  both our agencies, and I strongly suspect many of

         13  the OCACM workers, many of whom are obviously in

         14  this room, are frustrated with the largely paper

         15  relationship that we have now.  It used to be paper

         16  case records, and now it's computer files, back and

         17  forth to each other.  I think their opportunity to

         18  experience directly the strengths and the needs of

         19  these families in the communities can only help.

         20                 Third, this plan proposes to break

         21  down some of the traditional kind of government silo

         22  funding, so what the Commissioner is proposing is to

         23  take four separate pots of money, which right now

         24  must be accounted for separately, spent separately,

         25  can't be interchanged, and to put them together.
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          2  There really is no new money coming to the agencies

          3  here in aggregate.  There is money coming in a

          4  different way and with some flexibility.  We'll have

          5  to prepare a plan.  ACS will have to approve it.

          6  But it will give the agency some opportunities to do

          7  some things differently, to invest in some services

          8  earlier in trying to move case decisions faster.

          9                 I made reference to the fact that

         10  there are unknowns and things we need to consider.

         11  One of them is that there are- while there is a lot

         12  of responsibility in this plan being placed on the

         13  agencies, there are a lot of implicit and explicit

         14  commitments by ACS to do some things and to do them

         15  differently in the plan. While I won't enumerate all

         16  those, in fact, I don't think in the week that we've

         17  had to look at this, we've even figured out what all

         18  those are yet, it will be critical that ACS be able

         19  to meet its part of the bargain here too.  One of

         20  our questions, of course, becomes, how will they be

         21  held accountable for that?

         22                 We will be accountable through all of

         23  these new monitoring processes the Commissioner has

         24  described through score cards, through individual

         25  case work contacts, but we're going to need ACS to
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          2  be timely in its decisions and in its interactions

          3  with us.

          4                 Secondly, while there is a statement

          5  in the plan that speaks for the need for a strong

          6  residential care system, there's really nothing in

          7  the plan that will lead to that.  If the plan is

          8  successful, there will be significantly fewer kids

          9  in residential care and for shorter periods of time.

         10

         11                 I want to be very clear we're not

         12  interested in defending buildings, in protecting

         13  programs.  We're interested here in what's best for

         14  kids.  Sometimes what's best for kids is that

         15  traumatized, very troubled young people need the

         16  structures that are available in a well- run, well-

         17  resourced residential care program.  We need to work

         18  with ACS and with the budget people, I expect, and,

         19  ultimately with the Council, to make sure that those

         20  programs that are needed by kids are sufficiently

         21  resourced to do the kind of quality job we expect

         22  them to do.

         23                 Finally, I would just say that while

         24  I think ACS did the best job they could do with the

         25  funds available, that doesn't substitute or answer
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          2  the problem that there are not enough funds

          3  available.  I heard the frustrations of the ACS

          4  workers in the room before.  Let me speak similarly

          5  to the frustrations of our workers.

          6                 Last year the state agency, OCFS, did

          7  a study mandated by the legislature to look at

          8  what's a reasonable case load size.  I'm not an

          9  expert in this, but I think the CPS case load

         10  numbers they recommend are probably pretty close to

         11  what ACS is doing now.  Others can look at that.  In

         12  preventive services, under your leadership, Mr.

         13  Chairman, and the support of your Committee and your

         14  colleagues, you lowered our caseload sizes last year

         15  in preventive services from 15 down to 12 to 1,

         16  which is what the report recommends, and

         17  inexplicably those funds were not in the Mayor's

         18  preliminary budget for continuation.  They have to

         19  be, or we will simply not be putting eye- balls on

         20  kids in homes as often as we should be, and doing

         21  the kind of work we need to do to work with those

         22  families.

         23                 The recommendation in foster care is

         24  that the caseload should be 11 or 12 kids per

         25  worker.  Our agencies currently run about double
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          2  that size.  The report documents that in the current

          3  system the average child and his or her family

          4  spends 54 minutes a month in face- to- face contact

          5  with their worker.  I have a very simple question

          6  you've heard me ask before.  If it was your family

          7  or my family or any of our families, I submit to you

          8  54 minutes would not be enough or I'd be hiring an

          9  attorney like Ms. James to go into court and make

         10  sure that I got my rights to have more time with

         11  that worker to get my case expedited.  So at the end

         12  of the day, we need to lower these caseload sizes.

         13  The flexibility funding offers some movement there

         14  but it does not fully address the problem.

         15                 The last time we measured this, our

         16  turnover of caseworkers was 40 percent a year.  The

         17  jobs are too stressful, which the caseload size

         18  would help address.  The salaries are so low,

         19  workers cannot stay in these jobs very long.  We

         20  need a system ultimately that funds our workers so

         21  that they can stay in those jobs longer than the

         22  kids stay in foster care.

         23                 If we do those things, lower the

         24  caseload sizes, increase the salaries, we'll end up

         25  with fewer kids in care because we'll expedite the
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          2  decisions that have to be made, in conjunction with

          3  the ACS workers, no matter what the format is.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

          6  much.  Very helpful and clear testimony, as always.

          7  I want to just urge your colleagues to follow the

          8  example set eloquently by Mr. Purcell and

          9  summarizing your testimony.

         10                 MS. GENDELL:  I promise I won't read

         11  the whole thing.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  I like

         13  summarizing.

         14                 MS. GENDELL:  Yes, I will summarize.

         15  I promise I will summarize.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Stephanie, you

         17  don't have a Master's in Social Work, do you?

         18                 MS. GENDELL:  I do not, but I do have

         19  a law degree.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Well, that

         21  explains why you didn't understand when I used the

         22  big word summarizing.

         23                 MS. GENDELL:  No MSW, sorry.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Please

         25  summarize.
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          2                 MS. GENDELL:  My name is Stephanie

          3  Gendell.  I'm the Senior Policy Associate for a

          4  Child Welfare and Child Care Services at the

          5  Citizens' Committee for Children.  CCC does support

          6  the goals of the IOC plan and recognizes

          7  transforming any City agency as large and

          8  complicated as ACS would involve many critical

          9  players.  We think that the plan offers some

         10  innovative and exciting features.  That said, we

         11  also have some questions and concerns about some

         12  aspects of the plan, and that's why I'll focus on in

         13  the interest of time.  The good parts are in the

         14  testimony.

         15                 We reviewed the plan in the context

         16  of what's most important to us, which is whether the

         17  plan will, in fact, produce better outcomes for

         18  children and families who come into contact with ACS

         19  and its provider agencies.

         20                 So I'm just going to move to talk

         21  about some of the highlights of the plan, which

         22  relate to family team conferences. We support the

         23  use of family team conferencing and just hope for

         24  some more clarity on the roles of ACS and the

         25  contract providers at those conferences.  We have a
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          2  few questions related to that, such as what role

          3  will ACS staff play when they attend?  What will the

          4  impact of their attending only some of the

          5  conferences be on the participants in the

          6  conference?  What will the scope of work and

          7  workload for the ACS staff be who attend the

          8  conferences?  Will ACS have enough staff as its

          9  outlined in the proposal if they only have 57

         10  preventive conference facilitators and 96 foster

         11  care conference facilitators?

         12                 On the technical assistance side, we

         13  thought that ACS should be experts and should be

         14  providing technical assistance. We just had a few

         15  questions about exactly how that would work in terms

         16  of the staffing structure, workload, and scope of

         17  work for the people who work in the technical

         18  assistance units, how they will actually interface

         19  with the provider agencies, and how they would

         20  actually provide assistance in individual cases.

         21                 We are also wondering if the

         22  technical assistance units outlined in the plan were

         23  the only ones being considered, or whether there

         24  might be additional technical assistance units that

         25  would be found necessary, and wondered whether ACS
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          2  had allocated enough staff for these units, or

          3  whether some of the other staff that we've discussed

          4  earlier could perhaps be part of the technical

          5  assistance units.

          6                 We felt that one of the areas not

          7  mentioned in the plan was financing for prevention

          8  and aftercare services.  We feel that achieving the

          9  goals of the plan requires that they be adequately

         10  resourced, both through the lower caseloads that

         11  were mentioned before, and ensuring that there is

         12  enough capacity for every family that needs

         13  preventive services and for every foster child

         14  reunifying from foster care.

         15                 In terms of workforce stability,

         16  we're a little bit concerned about the workforce

         17  stability at ACS.  In particular, we want to be

         18  certain that any workforce instability created when

         19  case work staff, including child protective staff

         20  and foster care and preventive agency staff,

         21  potentially begin and applying and accepting new ACS

         22  positions, it would not negatively affect the work

         23  of ACS keeping children safe.

         24                 Finally, I just want to say that we

         25  realize that this is a work in progress, and we look
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          2  forward to continuing dialogue and how we can make

          3  this plan improve outcomes for children.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you very

          5  much, Stephanie.  You did a noble job of

          6  summarizing, and let me say before I turn to Mr.

          7  Kohomban, that we have testimony, written testimony

          8  for the record from Episcopal Social Services that

          9  we're going to enter into the record.  If any other

         10  organization has written testimony that they would

         11  like to go into the formal record of the hearing,

         12  please provide to our Counsel, Molly Murphy.

         13                 Now our final witness, we welcome

         14  testimony from Dr. Kohomban.

         15                 MR. KOHOMBAN:  Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman I will be brief.  I'm Jeremy Kohomban, the

         17  President and CEO of the Children's Village.  We are

         18  the largest residential school in New York and

         19  probably the country.

         20                 I want to briefly comment about

         21  residential care since we hear much about it.  The

         22  children who are referred to residential care often

         23  come to us directly from foster homes, but they also

         24  come to us via psychiatric hospitals, the Department

         25  Education, the Department of Mental Health,
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          2  Probation and Juvenile Justice.

          3                 Children are typically referred to

          4  residential care only when all attempts to maintain

          5  them safely in the community have been exhausted.

          6  Educational failure, fear, anger, gang activity,

          7  oppositional behavior, depression, mental illness

          8  and police involvement are common themes among the

          9  foster children referred to our programs.  The

         10  proposed ACS plan has a clear disincentive for the

         11  use of residential care going forward, but despite

         12  that disincentive, and despite my anxieties about

         13  what it will do to this 155- year- old organization,

         14  I come here before you in support of this plan.

         15                 I want to make four brief comments to

         16  elaborate. First, and most importantly, the plan

         17  calls for the implementation of family conferencing.

         18    As you've heard from my colleagues before me, it

         19  is a methodology that works, and on the panel before

         20  us was Mark, I believe the Sup. Two from ACS, who

         21  was part of Home Rebuilders, and I was a director at

         22  Home Rebuilders, and I remember we used in our model

         23  of Home Rebuilders, we used family conferencing, and

         24  it has great efficacy, and it will move the system

         25  in the right direction.
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          2                 Second, the plan promises an enhanced

          3  rate and flexibility.  It is something that we need

          4  badly.  We need to frontload services and get away

          5  from maintenance and begin to expedite families.

          6  Families should not languish in care for the lengths

          7  of time that they do in New York.

          8                 Third, the promise that ACS has made

          9  to move 500 staff or so from oversight and

         10  administrative functions to hands on assistance with

         11  the agencies is welcome.  Our experience is that ACS

         12  has committed and dedicated competent individuals.

         13  Many of the staff, we hope, will join us.  They know

         14  the systems.  They understand how the systems work,

         15  and in my experiences, as the panelist before

         16  commented about the days when we tried home

         17  rebuilders, those joint conferences were incredible

         18  We were able to expedite and make the kind of

         19  decisions that needed to be made on behalf of

         20  children and families, and we think it's a great

         21  move forward.

         22                 Fourth and finally, the Commissioner

         23  in his meeting with us, promised that we would

         24  implement a standardized tool that would enable us

         25  to assess the appropriate level of care needed for
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          2  each child at intake.  What has historically

          3  happened, and what sometimes happens now, is a

          4  terrible injustice.  In the absence of a

          5  standardized assessment at intake, children are

          6  sometimes placed in inappropriate settings.

          7                 For example, a child who exhibits

          8  dangerous behaviors or violent tendencies, gets

          9  placed with a foster family in the mistaken belief

         10  that a family is always the best for every child.

         11  Often in these cases the child's behavior very

         12  quickly exhausts the foster family, and the child

         13  gets moved to yet another foster family, and I think

         14  the Commissioner mentioned that this bounce

         15  continues to excessive limits in the New York

         16  system.

         17                 In most cases, those children end up

         18  at an institution like Children's Village.  By this

         19  time the child is further traumatized, hurt and

         20  burdened by the many failures that he or she has

         21  experienced.  The foster family is exhausted,

         22  sometimes afraid and often disillusioned.  The

         23  family of the child often feels further victimized,

         24  battered and helpless.  While the scenario that I

         25  describe is probably the experience of less than 10
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          2  percent of the children in our foster care system,

          3  it is still an outrageous number, and we must and we

          4  can do better.

          5                 With a front end assessment, and

          6  flexibility in funding, we will be better able to

          7  serve our children and avoid the hit or miss system

          8  that's currently in place.  It will also reduce

          9  length of stay, and it will help us be more

         10  cognizant of how parents and children feel when they

         11  enter the system.  Foster care in its many various

         12  forms, including the innovative programs at

         13  Children's Village, are no panacea and we need to

         14  bring about some reform, and this is the right step

         15  and the right direction.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DEBLASIO:  Thank you for

         17  your eloquent and energetic testimony.  I appreciate

         18  it.  Thank you all for the good work you do.  We

         19  also are reading into the record testimony from the

         20  Jewish Child Care Association and from Eric

         21  Brettschneider.  I just want to thank everyone who's

         22  been here today, everyone who has participated in

         23  this hearing.  My hope is that some of the good

         24  impulses here are matched by a tremendous amount of

         25  consultation and work to bring everyone together
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          2  around these common goals and tremendous respect for

          3  the people who do the work in all pieces of this

          4  system, including the organizations you represent.

          5                 We look forward, for sure, to working

          6  together with you and the ACS and everyone to ensure

          7  we serve our children better.  Thank you very much.

          8  This Hearing of the General Welfare is now

          9  adjourned.

         10                 (Meeting concluded 4:10 p.m.)

         11                 (The following written testimony was

         12  read into the record.)

         13

         14  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         15  STATEMENT PRESENTED BY

         16  ASSOCIATION OF BLACK SOCIAL WORKERS, INC.

         17  NEW YORK CITY CHAPTER

         18

         19                 After reading and viewing many news

         20  releases, which detailed or tried to explain your

         21  improved outcomes for Children (IOC) initiative, we

         22  are compelled to respond.  Simply, on the surface

         23  your new initiative brings to mind Charles Dickens'

         24  famous book: A Tale of Two Cities- It was the best

         25  of times and it was the worst of times.  It appears

                                                            155

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  that your dubious plan will provide the best of

          3  times for your contract agencies, which are

          4  primarily "white benefactors" and sadly the worst of

          5  times for your current staff, who are predominately

          6  Black and Latino.

          7                 The unique ACS specific title: Child

          8  Welfare Specialist (CWS), which was created by

          9  former Deputy Commissioner Linda Gibbs, who is now

         10  Deputy Mayor with oversight of your Agency, is being

         11  abolished by you.  Why now?  Originally, the edict

         12  was that this title was created in order to

         13  circumvent SSEU Local 371's membership and to change

         14  the complexion of your Agency.  It's ironic that

         15  every 20 years, this Agency tries to develop a new

         16  initiative, which has the same proverbial theme of

         17  going back to the "good ole days" when most of the

         18  child welfare decision makers and staff were white.

         19  On April 9, 1987, Ari Goldman with Michael Oreskes

         20  published a very powerful article in The New York

         21  Times, which was titled New York Foster Care:  A

         22  Public Private Battleground.  The primary theme of

         23  this detailed article was about the Wilder v.

         24  Bernstein lawsuit.  In summary and we quote:

         25   "Control is at issue."
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          2                 There's an old adage that if you

          3  don't  "stand for something, then you'll fall for

          4  anything."  Because a significant number of our

          5  membership are also employees of the Administration

          6  for Children's Services, in the spirit of

          7  solidarity, we too must stand and advocate on behalf

          8  of Black families and children, both in the

          9  community as well as with your employees.

         10                 We've taken the liberty and initiated

         11  our own analysis and have concluded that newly

         12  created paradigms as they relate to foster care

         13  truly have nothing to do with the preservation of

         14  the Black and Latino family.  For instance, our

         15  research has concluded that your second family,

         16  better known as Casey Foundation has the philosophy

         17  of hiring its own.

         18                 Historically, it appears that your

         19  dedicated Child Welfare Specialists staff, who are

         20  assigned to what was originally and better known as

         21  the Office of Accountability, philosophy contradicts

         22  the principles of you and all of your recently hired

         23  friends from Casey.  CWS' staff may also be guilty

         24  for disagreeing with the convoluted policies and

         25  procedures that have been employed by the contract
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          2  agencies.  These practices have been readily

          3  embraced by your "ACS leaders" who were former

          4  employees of contract agencies that brought their

          5  philosophies with them.

          6                 With respect to objectivity, it

          7  appears that your leadership has conspired with the

          8  contract agencies to ensure that you remove the CWS

          9  staff that your leadership considers obstacles to

         10  your initiative from the equation.  Hence, it took

         11  two decades for ACS' vendors to finally attain what

         12  they were seeking- self monitoring.  Now these

         13  agencies will not have to respect the principle of

         14   "separation between church and state".

         15  Additionally, they will not have to respect the

         16  needs of Black and Latino people nor your Black and

         17  Latino staff.

         18                 Therefore, we demand that you give

         19  your current staff the equitable opportunity to be

         20  trained and placed into these new positions that you

         21  believe will enhance your action plan.

         22                 Contrary to the information, which

         23  was in your March 23, 1007, Special e- Bulletin be

         24  advised that all of your Child Welfare Specialists'

         25  staff have at least a Bachelor's degree. Further,
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          2  approximately a third of your staff assigned to the

          3  office of contract management have advanced degrees.

          4    A number of these advanced degrees were actually

          5  paid for by your Agency.  Some of these ACS

          6  qualified staff also have significant CPS

          7  experience. Let us remind you that after the death

          8  of Nixzmary Brown, you subjected hundreds of CWS

          9  staff to be involuntarily redeployed to CPS offices

         10  and later thanked them for a job well done.

         11                 In closing 21 percent of your 1,200

         12  permanent Child Welfare Specialists have provided

         13  case management services for more than 15 years.

         14  Thirty- two percent have provided case management

         15  services for 10 to 15 years.  Thirty- seven percent

         16  have provided case management services for at least

         17  five years.

         18                 Therefore, cumulatively,

         19  approximately 90 percent of your current Child

         20  Welfare Specialists' staff have provided case

         21  management services for five years or more. In the

         22  spirit of improving "the results these agencies

         23  achieve for children and families", we demand that

         24  you retain your current experienced staff and place

         25  them into these newly created positions of your
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          2  proposed reorganization plan.

          3                 We trust that you will give this

          4  matter serious consideration.

          5

          6  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          7  ROBERT H. GUTHEIL

          8  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

          9  EPISCOPAL SOCIAL SERVICES

         10

         11                 Good afternoon.  My name is Robert

         12  Gutheil.  I am Executive Director of Episcopal

         13  Social Services, a human service Agency that began

         14  serving needy New Yorkers in 1831.  We celebrated

         15  our 175th anniversary last year.  We are a multi-

         16  service Agency, with programs in foster care and

         17  adoption early childhood education, early

         18  intervention, afterschool services, developmental

         19  disabilities services and services to those both in

         20  prison and recently released.

         21                 Episcopal Social Services has been a

         22  contract Agency of the City's Administration for

         23  Children's Services and its predecessors for

         24  decades, and I come here today to offer our

         25  perspective to the City Council and this Committee.
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          2  Our Agency has consistently been in the top bracket

          3  of the City's EQUIP evaluation scores, both in our

          4  foster home and our group home programs.  I believe

          5  it may be helpful to you, especially as this new

          6  initiative rolls out, to hear the experience of a

          7  front line Agency that currently serves almost 450

          8  children in foster homes and their families.

          9                 We do intend to apply for the first

         10  phase of this initiative, as I believe will be the

         11  case for many agencies.  We do so because it offers

         12  a promising new approach to serving these neediest

         13  of our City's children more effectively.  Since time

         14  is limited, let me comment briefly on just two major

         15  aspects of the ACS proposal - a new financing

         16  system, and a new service partnership.

         17                 Financing foster home care through

         18  upfront lump sum payments, with incentives to reduce

         19  length of stay and minimize step- ups into more

         20  intensive and expensive placement settings, seems

         21  the right direction to take.  There have been

         22  allegations over the years that the per diem payment

         23  system has encouraged agencies to keep children in

         24  care longer than necessary.

         25                 I've been in this work for over
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          2  thirty years, and I don't know a single instance

          3  where that has been true.  But I certainly

          4  acknowledge that the per diem system gives the

          5  appearance that we are incentivized in that way, and

          6  I welcome the opportunity to move away from it.

          7  There is now of course the potential opposite charge

          8  that we will discharge children prematurely and

          9  avoid placing them in necessary treatment facilities

         10  in order to save money.  That will need to be

         11  monitored closely, but I feel very certain that will

         12  not happen.  The major financial issue at the outset

         13  is to be sure that the funding is adequate to enable

         14  truly effective work.

         15                 The new service partnership with ACS,

         16  with case management decision making moving from ACS

         17  to the agencies, also seems right.  We are the ones

         18  who know the children and families best, most

         19  deeply, and it is encouraging that our judgment will

         20  be respected in this way.  I don't want to overstate

         21  the significance of this, the cases where we and ACS

         22  disagreed about a course of action were certainly

         23  the exception in the past, far less than ten or even

         24  five percent.  But this institutionalizes a much

         25  more efficient system of decision making, where we
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          2  are not constantly engaged in the old children's

          3  game of "May I" every time we want to move ahead.

          4  And the ongoing professional involvement of ACS

          5  staff in the process of case review should be

          6  beneficial to all concerned.

          7                 There is much more that could be said

          8  as this begins, but much of it would also be

          9  speculative.  The proof of the pudding will be in

         10  the eating, and I believe just about all of us are

         11  eager to try this out, find out what works and what

         12  doesn't and work together with ACS and this

         13  Committee and the full Council to serve our children

         14  and families in the way they must be served.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  offer these introductory comments today.

         17

         18  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         19  ERIC BRETTSCHNEIDER, M.A., J.D.

         20

         21                 Chairman De Blasio and Council

         22  Members, I am pleased to offer some thoughts to the

         23  Committee on the Administration for Children's

         24  Services reform agenda.  My name is Eric

         25  Brettschneider. What seems like 100 years ago, I was
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          2  child welfare commissioner for New York City (1985-

          3  87) but for most of the last 40 years I have in one

          4  way or another been engaged in child welfare

          5  matters, government and nonprofit as a professional

          6  administrator, and chair of three related New York

          7  City Bar Association committees.  I am also the

          8  co-chair of the New York City Citizen's Review

          9  Panel.  For the last 17 years I have served as

         10  founding director of Agenda for Children Tomorrow, a

         11  public private partnership between New York City

         12  government, community coalitions, and the nonprofit

         13  community.

         14                 I restrict my comments today to a few

         15  points that I hope will be helpful to your

         16  discussion of the ACS Improved Outcomes for Children

         17  reform agenda:

         18                 I am currently serving as the part-

         19  time Interim Director of the United Way of New York

         20  City's Community Investment Program and in that

         21  capacity I would like to particularly commend ACS,

         22  the Commission on Economic Opportunity and Deputy

         23  Mayor Gibbs' office on their initiative on

         24  Individual Development Accounts designed to foster

         25  financial literacy and encourage savings for young
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          2  people aging out of foster care.  The United Way of

          3  New York City is particularly committed to this

          4  issue.

          5                 As ACS moves to implement the second

          6  phase of their Action Plan for Child Safety, it

          7  appears they are affirming their commitment to

          8  keeping families together as most often the best way

          9  to accomplish the results we are all hoping to

         10  achieve.  I believe that ACS's plan to implement the

         11  new program with a substantial pilot of 25 percent

         12  of foster care and 10 percent of preventative

         13  services is a thoughtful way to proceed.  Too small

         14  a pilot could be ineffective and too large a pilot

         15  could create unintended consequences.

         16                 I have been encouraged by the fact

         17  that when I started in child welfare I was part of

         18  the first pilot at the Queens Society for the

         19  Prevention of Cruelty to Children and there were no

         20  funds available for preventive services.  Last year,

         21  we had more children receiving preventive services

         22  than foster care.  The logical next step is to

         23  replace an anachronistic foster care per diem with a

         24  policy that is more outcome- oriented.  I am hopeful

         25  that a reform in foster care financing will lead to
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          2  decreased length of stays in foster care and fewer

          3  unnecessary stays in group homes and institutions

          4  for children, however I acknowledge there are kids

          5  who do need and benefit from both foster and

          6  congregate care.  I acknowledge that this is easier

          7  said than done.

          8                 I am not in a position to know the

          9  details of, or the labor implications for the care

         10  managers who will be affected as ACS shifts from a

         11  paper- centric approach to one that uses family

         12  conferencing social workers to increase the level of

         13  connection and accountability ACS has to families it

         14  serves.

         15                 I can say two things: One, I don't

         16  want to see any of the competent and dedicated ACS

         17  workers lose employment.  Two, I have never felt

         18  that the checks and balances system of caseworkers

         19  reviewing paper gave us a sufficient process.  It

         20  makes a lot of sense that ACS is shifting to a more

         21  personalized social service system.  I particularly

         22  appreciate a case conferencing process that where

         23  feasible includes the affected families and

         24  children.

         25                 In closing, I identify with the City
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          2  leadership's thoughtful, knowledgeable

          3  conceptualizations and encourage your continued

          4  oversight as well as an open collaboration between

          5  ACS and its stakeholders, including all of the

          6  communities that are affected by this issue.  At the

          7  same time I appreciate the need for harmonizing

          8  thoughtful reform agendas that avoid whipsawing the

          9  Agency as it works to continue improving the New

         10  York City child welfare system.  We have often

         11  suffered from too many easy answers. I support

         12  moving forward together.

         13

         14  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         15  RICHARD ALTMAN

         16  CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

         17  JEWISH CHILD CARE ASSOCIATION

         18

         19                 The attached article, "Ariel and the

         20  Silver Car" follows the story of a young woman who

         21  has had a tough life.  Her mother died, Ariel was in

         22  foster home care, and she attempted suicide, stole a

         23  car and spent time in a Juvenile Justice facility.

         24  Today she is in a residential treatment center,

         25  Pleasantville Cottage School and planning to live
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          2  with her grandmother.

          3                 Pleasantville offers traumatized

          4  young people like Ariel something they cannot get

          5  elsewhere, 24- hour- a- day care in a therapeutic

          6  milieu where physicians, vocational counselors,

          7  psychologists and licensed social workers are among

          8  the many professionals actively involved with her

          9  progress.  Ariel is surrounded by people and

         10  programs dedicated to helping her work on the

         11  problems in her past and acquire the skills she

         12  needs for a productive future.

         13                 She won't stay in residential

         14  treatment forever, but for now it is the right place

         15  for Ariel and young people with similar stories.

         16  She's not ready to go back home to her community;

         17  the last time she did that was the beginning of the

         18  events ending in her spending 18 months in a long

         19  term Juvenile Justice facility. She has work to do

         20  and will get the help she needs so that this time

         21  when she goes home she will be able to stay.

         22                 We all know that children need safe

         23  permanent families and communities.  Ariel's story

         24  highlights residential treatment as a way to make

         25  that possible.
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          2                 This article ran in The New York

          3  Times on March 11, 2007.  The article is long and to

          4  facilitate busy readers getting to the end of the

          5  story, which shows Ariel in JCCA's Pleasantville

          6  Cottage School, a residential treatment center, we

          7  have highlighted some key paragraphs.

          8                 Ariel and the Silver Car, By Brooke

          9  Hauser, The New York Times, March 11, 2007.

         10                 The keys were in the car door.  That

         11  much Ariel Guadalupe remembers telling the police on

         12  the September day in 2004 when she was nabbed for

         13  stealing a 1999 silver Ford Crown Victoria in

         14  Queens.  She was 14.

         15                 In 2005, girls like Ariel accounted

         16  for 20 percent of all youths entering the City's

         17  detention centers, compared with just 11.3 percent

         18  in 1990.  With this rise, to a total of 1,037 girls

         19  in 2005, has come a jump in the number of girls

         20  dispatched from detention centers to longer- term

         21  juvenile facilities, like the Lansing Residential

         22  Center, an institution near Ithaca where Ariel spent

         23  18 months.

         24                 As more and more Ariels are swept

         25  into the system, concerns are growing about its
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          2  ability to address their needs. Ariel is herself

          3  struggling back; having been released from Lansing

          4  in July, she now lives and attends classes at an

          5  after- care program in Pleasantville, New York,

          6  about an hour north of the City, and spends weekends

          7  at her grandmother's house.

          8                 During her Christmastime visit to her

          9  grandmother, on the way to buy a quart of milk,

         10  Ariel walked with a swagger that, after a lifetime

         11  of fights, has become as much a part of who she is

         12  as her full lips and her almond- shaped eyes,.  But

         13  roll back the sleeves of her black North Face jacket

         14  and you'll see a constellation of cuts and burns,

         15  left there by staples, erasers and anything else she

         16  could get her hands on while locked up.

         17                  "My mother was in the hospital and

         18  she saw The Little Mermaid while she was giving

         19  birth me," Ariel said one wintery afternoon as she

         20  sat at her grandmother's table and leafed through

         21  the pages of her powder- blue photo album. "My

         22  father told me the story."

         23                 By the time she celebrated her second

         24  birthday, complete with a banner and a Little

         25  Mermaid pinata, Ariel no longer lived with her
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          2  parents.  She had been placed in foster care with

          3  Ada, who is her father's mother.

          4                 The reason for the transfer was

          5  Ariel's mother, Dorylice Guadalupe.  By all

          6  accounts, Dorylice loved Ariel and her brother,

          7  Junior, who is four years younger, but she had

          8  serious mental health problems that no one in the

          9  family quite understood at the time.  According to

         10  documents submitted to Queens Family Court, the

         11  mother repeatedly took Ariel to the hospital to be

         12  treated for diarrhea, vomiting and sleep apnea.

         13                 It turned out that the mother

         14  suffered from the disorder Munchausen syndrome by

         15  proxy, in which a caregiver tries to gain sympathy

         16  by inducing illness, often in a child.  Ariel's

         17  symptoms disappeared as soon as she began living

         18  with her grandmother.

         19                 On weekends and after school, Ariel

         20  would visit her mother, a beautiful redhead who had

         21  a soft spot for animals, high fashion and Disney

         22  movies, interests that sometimes collided, as in the

         23  case of Ariel's first pet, a cocker spaniel named

         24  Pucci.  But the two never had the chance to forge a

         25  normal mother- daughter relationship.  Sometime
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          2  after Ariel's removal from her parents' home, the

          3  mother contracted H.I.V. and developed cancer.

          4                 As a smart and strong-willed

          5  12-year-old who had learned how to work the

          6  foster-care system, she was now old enough to decide

          7  whether she wanted to go home with her mother, or

          8  terminate those visits altogether.  In the months

          9  before her mother's death, at age 33, she did both.

         10  She also began to strike out on her own.

         11                 On June 1, 2003, Ariel went AWOL from

         12  her grandmother's home.  Thus began a dizzying,

         13  yearlong pattern of disappearing, resurfacing just

         14  long enough to be placed in foster care, then

         15  disappearing again.

         16                 Ariel casts herself as a "tough

         17  gangsta girl."  She was at one point a member of the

         18  Latin Kings gang, who smoked marijuana and drank a

         19  lot of liquor, just like the guys.  To make money,

         20  she worked as a stripper.  As she tells it, she had

         21  a knack for adapting to, and escaping from, bad

         22  situations.  An older boyfriend abused her, she

         23  said, but she left him after he slammed her head

         24  against a doorknob.

         25                 There is one subject, however, that
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          2  she is reluctant to discuss.  In early 2004, half a

          3  year after her mother died, Ariel was hospitalized

          4  for what was diagnosed as "suicidal ideations."  The

          5  behavior that led to the diagnosis had occurred when

          6  she was living at an aunt's house in East New York,

          7  Brooklyn. One February day when she was home alone,

          8  Ariel took a kitchen knife to her heart.  Little by

          9  little, she said, she applied pressure to the blade

         10  until it pierced her skin.

         11                 Over the next several months, Ariel

         12  was twice admitted to hospitals for brief periods.

         13  That September, the incident with the stolen car

         14  occurred.  After what social service agency records

         15  detail as seven placements, two hospitalizations and

         16  five AWOLs, Ariel was ready to trade in her running

         17  shoes for a set of wheels.

         18                 Soon Ariel was at Lansing, the

         19  upstate center run by the state's Office of Children

         20  and Family Services.  There she was befriended by a

         21  social worker, who taught her to use yoga to

         22  overcome anxiety and anger, and walked her through

         23  the maze of feelings she had over her mother's

         24  death.

         25                 Today Ariel is working to heal
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          2  herself.  She hopes to finish up at the

          3  Pleasantville Cottage School in Westchester this

          4  summer, and then move in with her grandmother full

          5  time.  She was on the honor roll at Lansing and said

          6  she is keeping up her grades at Pleasantville.

          7                 In many respects, Ariel sounds like a

          8  girl on the mend.  "It's your choice," she said of

          9  the life that stretches ahead of her, "whether

         10  you're going to add fuel to the fire, or give it

         11  water."

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 4:10 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 29th day of March 2007.
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